
IMPROVING PLACES SELECT COMMISSION

Venue: Town Hall, Moorgate Street, 
ROTHERHAM.  S60 2TH

Date: Thursday, 20th September, 2018

Time: 1.30 p.m.

A G E N D A

1. To consider whether the press and public should be excluded from the meeting 
during consideration of any part of the agenda. 

2. To determine any item(s) the Chairman is of the opinion should be considered 
later in the agenda as a matter of urgency. 

3. Apologies for absence 

4. Declarations of Interest 

5. Questions from members of the public and the press 

6. Communications 

7. Minutes of the previous meeting held on 26 July 2018 (Pages 1 - 8)

8. Rother Valley Caravan Park (Pages 9 - 18)

9. Thriving Neighbourhoods (Pages 19 - 82)

10. Housing Strategy Refresh - 2019-2022 (Pages 83 - 94)

11. Date and time of the next meeting:- 
Thursday 1 November 2018 at 2.00 p.m. at Rotherham Town Hall. 

Improving Places Select Commission Membership 2018/19:-
Chair – Councillor Mallinder

Vice-Chair – Councillor Sansome

Councillors Atkin, Buckley, B. Cutts, Elliot, Fenwick-Green, Jepson, Jones, Khan, 
McNeely, Reeder, Sheppard, Julie Turner, Vjestica, Walsh, Whysall and Wyatt.

Co-opted Member:- Mrs. L. Shears.

 



IMPROVING PLACES SELECT COMMISSION- 26/07/18

IMPROVING PLACES SELECT COMMISSION
26th July, 2018

Present:- Councillor Mallinder (in the Chair); The Mayor (Councillor Buckley); 
Councillors Atkin, Jepson, Khan, McNeely, Reeder, Sansome, J. Turner, Vjestica, 
Walsh and Wyatt.

Also in attendance : Councillor Hoddinott (Cabinet Member for Waste, Roads and 
Community Safety) for item 11; and Councillor Allen (Cabinet Member for Cleaner, 
Greener Communities) for item 12.

 Apologies for absence were received from Councillors B. Cutts, Elliot, Fenwick-
Green, Jones, Sheppard and Whysall. 

The webcast of the Council Meeting can be viewed at:- 
https://rotherham.public-i.tv/core/portal/home

7.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

There were no Declarations of Interest made at this meeting.

8.   QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC AND THE PRESS 

There were no questions from members of the public or the press.

9.   COMMUNICATIONS 

The following matters were discussed:-

(1) Representatives of the Muslim community of Rotherham were 
welcomed to the meeting (Minute No. 11 below refers).

(2) Councillor Walsh will represent the Improving Places Select 
Commission in respect of the audit of performance indicators.

(3) Councillor Sansome (Vice-Chair of the Improving Places Select 
Commission) will be a member of the Budget working group established 
by the Overview and Scrutiny Management Board.

(4) Councillor McNeely (a member of the Rotherham Town Centre 
Marketing Board) reported that the most recent meeting of the Board had 
considered the effect upon town centre businesses of the temporary 
relocation of the bus station and the consequent alterations to bus routes.  
The meeting had been very well attended and the Board’s views had 
been submitted to the South Yorkshire Passenger Transport Executive.

Page 1 Agenda Item 7

https://rotherham.public-i.tv/core/portal/home


IMPROVING PLACES SELECT COMMISSION - 26/07/18

(5) The Chair reported that the Young Tenants’ group (Council housing 
tenants) had a meeting scheduled for Monday 30th July, 2018, at which 
they will progress their work with the Council and with Rotherfed and will 
also be taken upon a tour of the Town Hall.

10.   MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING HELD ON 7TH JUNE, 2018 

Resolved:- That the minutes of the previous meeting of the Improving 
Places Select Commission held on Thursday, 7th June, 2018, be 
approved as a correct record for signature by the Chairman.

11.   DIGNITY/ROTHERHAM METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
CONTRACT UPDATE 

Further to Minute No. 103 of the meeting of the Improving Places Select 
Commission held on 3rd January, 2018, consideration was given to a 
report of the Superintendent Registrar concerning the monitoring of the 
performance of the contractual agreement which the Council has with 
Dignity Funerals Ltd. for the provision of bereavement services for the 
Rotherham Borough area.

Councillor Hoddinott (Cabinet Member for Waste, Roads and Community 
Safety) spoke about the requirement for Dignity Funerals Ltd. to provide a 
comprehensive performance report about the bereavement services for 
scrutiny by Elected Members of the Council.

The Select Commission welcomed Mr. S. Gant and Mrs. N. Cooke (both 
of Dignity Funerals Ltd.) who explained the improved relations between 
Dignity Funerals Ltd. and the Borough Council and the way in which the 
contractual agreement and performance of service delivery was being 
monitored. In presenting the Annual Performance Report from Dignity 
Funerals Ltd. the specific details mentioned were:-

(i) the Company making significant financial investment in capital works 
and maintenance at the East Herringthorpe Cemetery and Crematorium 
and the eight other Municipal cemeteries located throughout the Borough 
area;

(ii) Dignity Funerals Ltd. have improved performance during the past year, 
although there are some services not yet being offered (eg: woodland 
burials);

(iii) details of the company’s service delivery throughout the country and 
the use being made of surveys and feedback from the public, clients, 
funeral directors and other interested parties;  the use and effectiveness 
of surveys was still under review by the Company;

Page 2



IMPROVING PLACES SELECT COMMISSION- 26/07/18

(iv) the scanning of older burial records, to make such records available 
by electronic means and thereby preserving the original records (some of 
which are in a delicate condition and require careful handling under 
appropriate supervision);

(v) Dignity Funerals Ltd. comply in full with the General Data Protection 
Regulation requirements;

(vi) staff training within the Company;

(vii) an explanation of the refurbishment work on the Chapel at the East 
Herringthorpe Cemetery, due to open during September, 2018 (the 
project include increased capacity to accommodate people attending 
funerals, the provision of a new Book of remembrance, the installation of 
the Wesley Media System and refurbished waiting and toilet facilities); 
(Members were invited to visit the Chapel for a guided tour of the project 
works);

(viii) the management of vehicular traffic within the East Herringthorpe 
Cemetery remains a difficult issue to manage.

The following issues were highlighted by Members during discussion and 
questions/answers:-

: the care being taken with to preserve older burial records; the costs of 
scanning and the availability of burial records by electronic means in the 
future;

: operational performance targets and the need to ensure that each 
funeral service is conducted correctly and is not unduly hurried;

: some maintenance works are retained by the Council (eg: the chapel 
and the boundary wall at the Masbrough cemetery);

: the forthcoming establishment of a Project Liaison Group, with 
representation from the Borough Council and from Dignity Funerals Ltd.; 
one of the functions of the Project Liaison Group will be to meet with 
representatives of the Borough’s communities and faith groups and 
discuss the specific requirements for burials of the deceased of particular 
faith groups; availability of minutes of meetings as a means of providing 
information about current issues under consideration;

: the use of ‘mystery shopper’ exercise to ensure the maintenance of 
required standards of service;

: comparing the hours when the bereavement services are open and 
available to the public with those of neighbouring and similar local 
authorities; it was noted that the hours are specified within the contractual 
agreement;

Page 3



IMPROVING PLACES SELECT COMMISSION - 26/07/18

: the implications for the delivery of bereavement services of the Court 
judgement in the case of Adath Yisroel Burial Society v HM Senior 
Coroner for Inner North London (case heard on 27 and 28 March 2018);

: grounds maintenance undertaken by Glendale Ltd.; the process for the 
re-tendering for this contract is due to begin during 2019;

: the suggestion of an open day for the refurbished Crematorium Chapel;

: liaison meeting with Funeral Directors; liaison with community groups 
and “friends of ..” organisations;

: traffic management difficulties during the period of the refurbishment 
project of the Chapel at the East Herringthorpe Cemetery;

: health, welfare and safety and the regular testing of equipment;

: consideration of investment in modern, fuel-efficient cremators;

: the availability of burial space capacity around the Rotherham Borough 
area (eg: churches and Parish Councils); producing forward plans for the 
possibility of obtaining land to extend cemeteries; the role of the 
Environment Agency in assessing applications for new cemeteries or for 
extensions to existing cemeteries;

: the routine monitoring of contract performance, including all aspects of 
inspection (eg: Environmental Health); noting that there is now an officer 
of the Council as the initial, single point of contact in respect of the 
contractual agreement.

Resolved:- (1) That the report be received and its contents noted.

(2) That the progress made on establishing the new contract management 
arrangements be noted.

(3) That the Annual Performance Report from Dignity Funerals Ltd. as 
now submitted, be received and its contents noted.

(4) That future performance reports shall wherever possible utilise the red-
amber-green (RAG) method of reporting on individual performance items.

(5) That the establishment of a Project Liaison Group, to facilitate 
discussions with the community and with faith groups about bereavement, 
burial and cremation issues, be supported.

(6) That a further progress report about the performance of the 
bereavement services contract be submitted to a meeting of the 
Improving Places Select Commission to be held early in 2019.

Page 4



IMPROVING PLACES SELECT COMMISSION- 26/07/18

12.   ROTHERHAM'S CULTURAL STRATEGY - UPDATE ON PROGRESS 

Further to Minute No. 75 of the meeting of the Improving Places Select 
Commission held on 19th July, 2017, consideration was given to a report 
of the Assistant Director, Culture, Sport and Tourism providing an update 
on the progress of the development of a Cultural Strategy for Rotherham.

The report stated that the purpose of the Cultural Strategy was to:-

 Shape Rotherham’s vision for culture, leisure and green spaces;
 Strengthen the distinctive identity of the Borough;
 Grow engagement and participation in culture, sport and green spaces, 

enabling and encouraging more people to get active, get creative and 
get outdoors;

 Develop shared principles with which to embed quality, excellence and 
innovation;

 Build consensus about priorities for development and investment;
 Make the best use of existing resources and secure new investment;
 Optimise the impact of culture, sport and green spaces and cross-

cutting themes and priorities, such as health and wellbeing, place 
making and the child-centred Borough.

Councillor Allen (Cabinet Member for Cleaner, Greener Communities) 
explained the purpose of developing a Cultural Strategy which would be 
an overarching document for culture, sport and tourism in the Borough 
area. The Cultural Strategy (currently in draft form) will link to education 
and to the Council’s other strategic documents. The Cultural Partnership 
Board has been established and meets on four occasions per year 
(recently at World Café workshop). The development of the Cultural 
Strategy will be overseen by a working group of officers and will include 
wide-ranging consultation with the public, with the Council’s partner 
organisations and with other stakeholders. A specific consultation event 
will take place at the Rotherham Show on the weekend of 8th and 9th 
September, 2018.  Both the Borough Council and the Rotherham 
Together Partnership will be asked to approve the final version of the 
Cultural Strategy.

Members of the Select Commission raised the following matters during 
debate:-

: links to schools and colleges; specific consultation with children and 
young people (including the Lifestyle Survey and the Youth Cabinet); 
Members were invited to suggest other groups which could be included in 
the consultation process;

: the importance of the Embassy for Reimagining Rotherham as a Local 
Cultural Education Partnership (Members of the Select Commission 
asked to be provided with additional details of this partnership);

Page 5



IMPROVING PLACES SELECT COMMISSION - 26/07/18

: discussion of the means of ensuring the effectiveness of the consultation 
event at the forthcoming Rotherham Show;

: consultation within the electoral wards around the Borough and ensuring 
the involvement of hard-to-reach groups (an example of the Wingfield 
Ward neighbourhood newsletter was distributed at the meeting).

Resolved:- (1) That the report be received and its contents noted.

(2) That the Improving Places Select Commission shall establish a 
working group of Members to consider in detail the contents of the draft 
Cultural Strategy for Rotherham.

13.   COMMUNICATIONS AND ENGAGEMENT ABOUT CHANGES TO 
REFUSE AND RECYCLING COLLECTIONS SERVICES 

Further to Minute No. 133 of the meeting of the Cabinet and 
Commissioners held on 16th April, 2018, consideration was given to a 
report of the Assistant Director, Community Safety and Street Scene, 
about the implementation of new waste and recycling services across the 
Rotherham Borough area.

The principal features of the new services were:-

- a subscription-based garden waste collection service (£39 per year), 
from October, 2018; the service will be provided throughout the year;

- a new black (with pink lid) 180 litre wheeled bin for household waste, 
from late January 2019; the colour of this bin and lid had been decided 
after a public poll undertaken by the Rotherham Advertiser that had 
closed on 25th April, 2018.

- using the existing green 240 litre bin for paper and card and the existing 
black 240 litre bin for other recycling (glass, metal, plastic) from late 
January 2019.

The report and presentation highlighted the following issues:-

: details of the kerbside waste and recycling project communications and 
engagement plan;

: the specific changes  to the service were:-

• Introduction of plastic recycling at the kerbside;
• doubling the space residents will have for glass, metal cans, cardboard 

and paper;
• every household will overall have more space in the bins than currently 

and recycling will be easier
• with more overall space, the new household waste bin will be reduce in 

size to 180 litres and will have a pink lid to identify it;

Page 6



IMPROVING PLACES SELECT COMMISSION- 26/07/18

• subscribers to the garden waste collection service will receive a new 
240 litre wheeled bin, coloured brown.

: the specific recycling targets and implications for the Council’s budget;

: the timescale in which the changes will occur and the engagement with 
and communications with the general public and with community groups; 
attendance at some community events, door-to-door engagement with 
households in some areas; provision of information at household waste 
recycling centres;

: provision of general information about the service changes, press 
releases and use of social media; direct mail to households and use of 
stickers and tags attached to the existing waste bins;

: promotion of the chargeable garden waste service;

: community engagement at large events such as the Rotherham Show (8 
and 9 September 2018).

Members of the Select Commission raised the following issues during 
discussion:-

: the assorted types of plastic which may and may not be suitable for 
recycling;

: the cross-contamination of waste and cleanliness of the bins;

: the involvement of community groups, Parish Councils and Area 
Housing Officers in the dissemination of information about the service 
changes;

: method of payment for the garden waste service;

: use of communal bins in places where space and road access for the 
refuse collection vehicles are limited;

: the importance of effective communications and clarity and simplicity of 
the message delivered to the public about the new services.

Resolved:- (1) That the report and presentation be received and their 
contents noted.

(2) That a seminar be arranged for all Members of the Council about the 
changes to the Council’s waste and recycling services.

Page 7



IMPROVING PLACES SELECT COMMISSION - 26/07/18

14.   DATE AND TIME OF THE NEXT MEETING 

Resolved:- That the next meeting of the Improving Places Select 
Commission take place on  Thursday, 20th September, 2018 at 1.30 p.m.

Page 8



1

D
R

A
FT

Public/Private Report
Council/or Other Formal Meeting

Summary Sheet

Council Report
Improving Places Select Commission, 20th September 2018

Title 
Rother Valley Country Park Caravan Site Progress

Is this a Key Decision and has it been included on the Forward Plan? 
No

Strategic Director Approving Submission of the Report 
Damien Wilson, Strategic Director, Regeneration and Environment Services

Report Author(s) 
Phil Gill - Leisure and Green Spaces Manager
Culture, Sport and Tourism
Ext 22430
philip.gill@rotherham.gov.uk

Ward(s) Affected
Wales directly but wider impact across the borough.

Executive Summary

Following approval by the Cabinet and Commissioners’ Decision Making Meeting on 
the 13th November 2017, work has started on implementing the Rother Valley 
Country Park Camping and Caravan Site project.  This report presents an update of 
progress to date.

Recommendations

1 Improving Places Select Commission notes that the construction of a new 
camping and caravan site at Rother Valley Country Park is on track, and that 

Page 9 Agenda Item 8

mailto:philip.gill@rotherham.gov.uk


2

D
R

A
FT

it is scheduled for completion and handover in March 2019, in line with the 
original project programme.

List of Appendices Included

Appendix 1 - Construction Progress Photographs

Background Papers
Cabinet Report, Proposed Rother Valley Country Park Caravan Site, 13th November 
2017
Improving Places Select Commission Report, Proposed Rother Valley Country Park 
Caravan Site, 15th November 2017

Consideration by any other Council Committee, Scrutiny or Advisory Panel
None

Council Approval Required
No

Exempt from the Press and Public
No

Page 10



3

D
R

A
FT

Title (Main Report)
Rother Valley Country Park Caravan Site Progress

1. Recommendations

1.1 Improving Places Select Commission notes that the construction of a new 
camping and caravan site at Rother Valley Country Park is on track, and that 
it is scheduled for completion and handover in March 2019, in line with the 
original project programme.

2. Background

2.1 Proposals to develop a new camping and caravan site at Rother Valley 
Country Park (RVCP) were previously reported to Improving Places Select 
Commission on  15th November 2017.  The proposals had been approved by 
the Cabinet and Commissioners’ Decision Making Meeting on 13th November 
2017, and officers were instructed to submit a planning application and to 
seek tenders for construction of the facility.   Planning permission was granted 
in April 2018.   Tenders were invited around the same time.

2.2 Five tenders were received.  As all exceeded the agreed construction budget, 
a value engineering exercise was undertaken with the lowest tenderer (Geo. 
Houlton and Sons Ltd) with a view to omitting some items from the tender. 
Substantial savings were made by omitting the TV aerial system to individual 
pitches, adopting simpler door access controls and retaining excess spoil on 
site.  However, all the principal elements of the original scheme, including a 
second toilet and shower block, will be delivered. The agreed revised tender 
price was £3.76 million. 

2.3 The tender cost excludes costs in respect of certain infrastructure works 
including an electricity sub-station, gas supply and off-site highway 
improvement works.  Such costs are expected to be contained within the 
£370,000 contingency sum allocated as part of the agreed overall capital 
budget.  

2.4 Houltons contract started on 4th June 2018.  Good progress has been made 
since then, with early works including re-contouring of the site, setting out 
roadways and pitches, piling for buildings, and casting of concrete floors.  
Appendix 1 contains recent photographs showing work on site.

2.5 Feedback from local residents led to identification of a preferred alternative for 
provision of off-street car parking on Delves Lane/Waleswood Lane on the 
approach to Wales Bar junction, which was a planning condition.  

Page 11



4

D
R

A
FT

Consequently, a revised scheme has been submitted to Planning as an 
application for variation of condition on the original permission.   

 
3. Key Issues

3.1 The contractor’s construction programme currently has a completion and 
handover date of 4th March 2019.  This will allow commissioning and staff 
training to take place in time for a public launch in April 2019, and the 
business to operate throughout the 2019-20 financial year as assumed in 
financial projections. 

3.2 The confirmed design and specification for the site is still expected to meet 
the AA 5 Pennant standard.  This has been identified as being important to 
the success of the project, as research has indicated that this standard is a 
significant driver of customer demand.

3.3 Effective pre-launch marketing is also important to achieve projected levels of 
net income (after loan repayments) to deliver a planned budget saving.  
Current and planned activity includes procurement of an on-line booking 
system which is due to go live before the end of 2018, providing links to the 
booking system from partner web-sites, general and targeted advertising, 
social media campaign, and media coverage in the run-up to opening.

4. Options considered and recommended proposal

4.1 A wide range of options was considered, including doing nothing, pursuing 
alternative invest to save projects, inviting an external body to develop and 
operate a caravan site at the park under a long lease, developing and 
operating a caravan site on other Council-owned land elsewhere, and 
developing and operating a caravan site on land within the park next to Delves 
Lane.  Consequently, the option of developing and operating a caravan site on 
land at Delves Lane was identified as being most likely to fulfil the project’s 
identified critical success factors.

5. Consultation

5.1 The previous report to Improving Places Select Commission described early 
consultation that took place to establish the business case for a new camping 
and caravan site, and to identify high-level requirements.  For example, it 
guided decisions about the size and location of the new caravan site, as well 
as identifying appropriate quality standards. 

5.2 Since Cabinet and Commissioners’ Decision Making Meeting approved the 
development of a new camping and caravan site there has been further 

Page 12



5

D
R

A
FT

targeted consultation to help identify detailed requirements and to address 
any specific concerns. Face-to-face consultation sessions were held with 
prospective customers, local residents, Wales Parish Councillors, Members 
and officers of Rotherham Borough Council, Rotherham Youth Cabinet and 
Access4All.  This has guided development of the detailed proposals.  For 
example, consultees advised that additional car park spaces were needed 
when people staying on the site have friends or relatives visiting them and 
these have now been included.  

5.3 Rother Valley Country Park also sought comments from the public via its 
website and Facebook.  This led to 163 email responses and 300 comments 
on the Facebook page.  The park team also consulted with lease holders at 
the park, and families with disabled children, via the Rotherham Short Breaks 
Facebook page, which generated 5 responses.

6. Timetable and Accountability for Implementing this Decision

6.1 The Assistant Director, Culture, Sport and Tourism is accountable for the 
project in her role as project sponsor.  The Leisure and Green Spaces 
Manager is acting as client project manager, and project implementation is 
being co-ordinated by the Building Design Team in Asset Management.

6.2 The previously reported timetable for implementation remains on track, with 
completion and handover of the camping and caravan site scheduled to take 
place in March 2019.

7. Finance and Procurement Implications

7.1 Projections of capital expenditure, revenue costs and income remain as 
reported in the previous report to Improvement Places Select Commission, 
and are therefore within the approved capital budget for this project.  The 
delivery of the capital project by March 2019 will enable the approved 2019/20 
revenue saving of £200k to be achieved.  This is on the basis that customer 
numbers and therefore income and expenditure assumptions in the business 
plan are met.  

7.2 This project was procured using the YORbuild2 framework. YORbuild2 is a 
regional framework for the Yorkshire and Humber region for which the Council 
is one of the 4 lead authorities. The YORbuild2 framework was approved at 
the Cabinet and Commissioners’ Decision Making Meeting on 18th January  
2016. In line with the procurement regulations, all the contractors within the 
relevant Lot are invited to submit a tender price.

   

Page 13



6

D
R

A
FT

8. Legal Implications

8.1 There are no direct legal implications arising from this report. 

9. Human Resource Implications

9.1 There are no immediate Human Resource implications arising from this 
report.

9.2 Any new staff will be integrated into the existing park staffing structure, where 
adequate management and administration resources are already in place to 
ensure compliance with Council HR and financial procedures, and to provide 
the necessary oversight and direction of the business.  

10. Implications for Children and Young People and Vulnerable Adults

10.1 The project will support the delivery of Rotherham’s ambition to be a child-
centred borough, by creating family-friendly holiday accommodation.  This will 
also widen access to Gulliver’s for children, families and vulnerable adults by 
providing an affordable accommodation offer.  The project will support the 
continued operation of Rother Valley Country Park, which provides 
recreational, educational and employment opportunities for children, young 
people and vulnerable adults. 

11. Equalities and Human Rights Implications

11.1 The project will comply with all planning and building regulations with regard 
to meeting disabled access requirements.  The project increases the 
availability of affordable holiday accommodation, supporting access to leisure 
for those of limited means.

12. Implications for Partners and Other Directorates

12.1 There are no direct implications for partners and other directorates.

13. Risks and Mitigation

13.1 The project team continues to monitor and mitigate risks, including those 
identified in the previous report to Improving Places Select Commission.

Page 14



7

D
R

A
FT

13.2 At the time of writing, no new risks have been identified that are expected to 
impact significantly on prospects of achieving a successful project outcome.

14. Accountable Officer(s)

14.1 Polly Hamilton - Assistant Director, Culture, Sport and Tourism.

14.2 Phil Gill - Leisure and Green Spaces Manager.

Approvals obtained from:-  

Finance Manager, Regeneration and Environment: Jonathan Baggaley
Legal Service Manager: Stuart Fletcher
Head of Procurement:  Karen Middlebrook
Human Resources: John Crutchley

This report is published on the Council’s website or can be found at:-

http://moderngov.rotherham.gov.uk/ieDocHome.aspx?Categories=

Page 15

http://moderngov.rotherham.gov.uk/ieDocHome.aspx?Categories


1

Appendix 1

 Meeting: Improving Places Select Commission

 Date: 20th September 2018

 Item No. & Title: Rother Valley Country Park Caravan Site 
Progress

Ward Wales

Construction Progress Photographs - 3rd August 2018

Page 16



2

 

 

View towards the new reception 
building and toilet block B from the 
proposed camp site entrance.

Rother Valley Country Park Caravan Site 
Site progress inspection (03 August 2018)

Land forming operations to 
achieve finished road levels and 
flat camping pitches.

New soakaway installed and soil 
spreading to form level pitches along 
the woodland boundary .

Page 17



3

Excavations for the road 
construction with terracing for 
caravan pitches either side.

Reinforcing being positioned for 
the slab foundation, toilet block B.

Reception building slab foundation 
complete.

Page 18



1

Public Report

Summary Sheet
Improving Places Select Commission (IPSC) – 20th September 2018

Report Title 
Thriving neighbourhoods

Is this a Key Decision and has it been included on the Forward Plan? 
No 

Strategic Director Approving Submission of the Report
Shokat Lal, Assistant Chief Executive

Report Author(s)
Jackie Mould, Head of Performance, Intelligence and Improvement, Assistant Chief 
Executive Directorate, 01709 823618, jackie.mould@rotherham.gov.uk 

Ward(s) Affected
All wards 

Summary

The purpose of this report is to:

a) Provide a summary of the first year of delivery of the new neighbourhood 
working model and the lessons learnt

b) Make recommendations for future delivery of the neighbourhood working 
model

c) Share the draft new Thriving Neighbourhoods Strategy.

Recommendations

Members of Improving Places Select Committee are asked to:

1. Review the Annual Report 2017/18 Neighbourhood Working including 
recommendations for future delivery.

2. Note the Thriving Neighbourhoods: The Rotherham Neighbourhood Strategy 
2018-2025.  

List of Papers Included

  Annual Report 2017/2018 Neighbourhood Working
 Thriving Neighbourhoods: The Rotherham Neighbourhood Strategy 2018-

2025 

Page 19 Agenda Item 9

mailto:jackie.mould@rotherham.gov.uk


2

Background Papers
Review of Neighbourhood Working report to Cabinet/Commissioners’ Decision 
Making meeting – 10th April 2017

Consideration by any other Council Committee, Scrutiny or Advisory Panel
Council 

Council Approval Required
Yes 

Exempt from the Press and Public
No 

Page 20



3

Thriving neighbourhoods

1. Recommendations 

1.1Members of Improving places Select committee are asked to:

 Review the Annual Report 2017-18 Neighbourhood Working including 
recommendations for future delivery.

 Note the Thriving Neighbourhoods: The Rotherham Neighbourhood Strategy 
2018-2025.

2.  Background

2.1 The Council’s corporate improvement plan, “A Fresh Start”, included a key theme 
of ‘strong, high impact partnerships’. The theme’s objective was to deliver 
enhanced neighbourhood working and to introduce ‘a new model of citizen 
engagement and neighbourhood working linked to a review of area assemblies’. 

2.2 In order to deliver this a Member working group was established, chaired by the 
Cabinet Member responsible for neighbourhood working and comprising area 
assembly chairs/vice chairs and a Member of the opposition, supported by the chief 
executive and senior officers. 

2.3 The working group submitted a report to Cabinet and Commissioners on 10th 
October 2016 and the following vision and principles were agreed:

That the Council adopt an approach to neighbourhood working which would involve

“Putting communities at the heart of everything we do and making people healthier, 
happier, safer and proud by:

 Councillors working with their communities on what matters to them
 Listening and working together to make a difference 
 Supporting people from different backgrounds to get on well together”

2.4 Cabinet and Commissioners agreed a number of recommendations for a new 
neighbourhood working model following pre decision scrutiny in March 2017 and 
these were endorsed by council in May 2017. Overview and Scrutiny Management 
Board also received a further update in respect of the neighbourhood model in 
November 2017.

2.5 The Cabinet recommendations included plans for:

 The removal of the area assembly governance framework and dissolution of 
area assembly coordinating groups.

 Members to agree at a local level how to conduct citizen engagement in a 
flexible and innovative manner.

 Wards to work together, where needed, in flexible clusters based on 
geography and common interest.

Page 21



4

 Quarterly updates from each ward to be submitted to the portfolio Cabinet 
Member. 

 Ward plans to be produced and published outlining ward priorities and 
activities aligned to the corporate plan.

 Place profiles to be developed for each of the 21 wards detailing the 
demographics and community assets of the area; to be piloted in four wards. 

 The Community Leadership Fund of £1,000 per elected Member to continue, 
but Members to be encouraged to spend this in line with ward plan priorities. 

 The £30,000 allocated for area assembly chairs from the community 
engagement budget in 2017/18 to be distributed evenly to all 21 wards and 
reviewed as part of the budget setting process for 2018/19.

 £210k to be allocated equally across wards from the capital programme in 
2017/18 and to be utilised as determined by the neighbourhood.

 Decision-making to be delegated to wards with spend approved by the 
Assistant Director of Housing and Neighbourhood Services.

 Officers to explore how support could be provided to Members to secure 
additional funding both internally and externally.

 A 12 month transitional plan to phase-in the new neighbourhood working 
approach and annual report on neighbourhood working to Improving Places 
Select Commission (IPSC) and Council.

 A review of staffing structure supporting neighbourhood working and 
decisions arising from the review be taken under existing delegated powers.

 The relevant amendments to be made to the constitution.  

2.6  In addition the Rotherham Together Partnership made a commitment to develop 
better multi agency working across the three localities (north, central and south) 
as part of the Rotherham Plan 2025. 

3. Key Issues

Neighbourhood working – progress and learning

3.1 The new neighbourhood working model was introduced in May 2017 and the last 
16 months have seen the implementation of the programme across 21 wards in 
Rotherham. This transitional period has enabled ward Members to develop ward 
based plans and engage with residents to identify important local issues and 
opportunities.

3.2 The attached annual report captures the learning from the transitional period and 
makes recommendations for future delivery.

3.3 The report suggests that Members are enthusiastic about the neighbourhood 
working model.  In particular Members welcome:

 The tailored approach to engagement and communication in each ward has 
increased the level of contact with residents.

 The development of ward plans, which provide a clear picture of local 
statistics, assets and priorities.  

 Devolved budgets and dedicated officer support which have enabled plans to 
translate into action, building confidence in the new approach.

Page 22



5

 More joined up working with communities and partner organisations and some 
examples of cross-ward working.

3.4 In year two further work is required to adopt learning from year one and to 
embed the model consistently across wards. The annual report makes a number 
of recommendations designed to:

a) further improve communication and engagement; 
b) strengthen governance and decision making processes and; 
c) encourage further joint ward working. 

The recommendations are outlined below at paragraph 4.  

Neighbourhood service review

3.5 During the transitional period there has also been a review of the neighbourhood 
service to align it with the new model.  A new head of neighbourhoods joined the 
Council earlier this month and the service now sits in the Assistant Chief 
Executive’s Directorate.

Thriving Neighbourhoods Strategy

3.6 The Member working group was also tasked with producing a new 
neighbourhood strategy, which will see the ward as the building block that 
enables partners and communities to work together to improve local outcomes.

3.7 Thriving Neighbourhoods, The Rotherham Neighbourhood Strategy 2018-2025, 
is attached and has been developed with input from the Member working 
group, the strategic leadership team and informal Cabinet.  The strategy is 
framed around three key outcomes:

 Neighbourhoods are safe and welcoming with good community spirit
 Residents are happy and healthy and love where they live 
 Residents use their skills and assets to contribute to the outcomes that matter 

to them.  

3.8 The strategy is about the Council and residents working together to achieve 
better quality of life and describes the key role for elected Members both as 
champions of place and as community leaders bringing together those who 
care about the local neighbourhood. The strategy also describes how the 
council will take a strength based approach drawing on existing strengths in the 
community and valuing the role of voluntary and community groups and assets. 

Thriving
3.9 The strategy is a public facing document which is reflected in its eye-catching 

design.  It will be available to the public online and linked to the Your 
Neighbourhood web pages. 

3.10 The Council has continued to work with the Rotherham Together Partnership to 
develop multi-agency working in north, central and south areas each led by a 
partner ‘champion’ from health, police and the Council. 

Page 23



6

3.11 Other developments include the new co-located services with South Yorkshire 
Police (SYP).  The central neighbourhood team was established in Riverside 
House in May 2018, bringing together the local policing team with the council’s 
community protection service, housing management and anti-social behaviour.  
The operational benefits of this co-location are already being felt in terms of 
improved relationships, collaboration and action on the ground.  Also based 
with the new team is a “partnership hub”, comprising the strategic functions 
from the Council’s community safety and SYP’s central neighbourhood service. 

3.12 New multi-agency meeting structures agreed by the Safer Rotherham 
Partnership are now in place and operating well.  This includes ward-level 
meetings with elected Members, multi-agency tasking meetings and the new 
community Multi-Agency Risk Assessment Conference (MARAC). 

4. Options considered and recommended proposal

4.1 Members of Improving Places Select Committee are asked to:

 Review the Annual Report 2017-18 Neighbourhood Working which includes 
the following recommendations:

- 1. Communication and engagement 

a) Promote the Thriving Neighbourhoods Strategy amongst residents, 
community organisations, Council staff and partners in order to get people 
involved and to explore opportunities for joint delivery. 

b) Ensure that Members, Council officers, partners and local people know 
where to find information on local assets and that the information is 
regularly refreshed to ensure it remains accurate. 

c) Provide support to community groups, particularly in relation to 
developing a constitution and applying for funding, or ensure they are 
consistently signposted to support that is already available (i.e. from VAR 
or RotherFed). 

- 2. Governance 

a) Continue to use the Neighbourhood Member Working Forum to drive 
business and to monitor progress of the neighbourhood working model. 

b) Ensure that each ward plan is refreshed and includes clear actions up to 
2020. 

c) Establish a set of minimum requirements for the governance of 
neighbourhood working including: 

 Formalising ward meetings and ensuring that a minimum of 4 
meetings take place per year in each ward. The ward meetings 
should bring together ward Members and officers to review 
delivery of the ward plan and to make decisions regarding 
devolved budgets and key priorities such as CCTV deployment

Page 24



7

 Developing a resident engagement strategy in each ward as part 
of the development of the ward plan. 

d) Consider the option of pooling devolved budgets (for example, the CLF 
budget and the ward budget) and harmonise the processes for allocating 
funding. 

e) Design and implement a robust evaluation framework to measure impact 
and outcomes. 

- 3. Joint working and coordination of activity 

a) Review the Area Housing Panels to align them with the new 
neighbourhood working model.

b) Forge closer relationships with parish Councils by working together on 
shared priorities and reducing duplication of effort. 

c) Embed an asset based approach by ensuring ongoing training and 
development for Members and officers. 

d) Implement the Thriving Neighbourhoods strategy across the Council and 
clarify how each part of the Council will support neighbourhood working. 

     Note the Thriving Neighbourhoods: The Rotherham Neighbourhood Strategy 
2018-2025. 

5. Consultation

5.1 Detailed consultation has previously taken place regarding the new 
neighbourhood working model.  Ward plans also feature a specific section 
relating to community engagement. 

5.2 The neighbourhood working annual report highlights that further work is 
required to develop partnership forums at ward and area level to engage 
statutory services and voluntary and community groups in place planning.  

6. Timetable and Accountability for Implementing this Decision

6.1 An implementation plan is being developed to deliver the strategy across the 
council. The strategy which will also provide the basis for the neighbourhood 
team work programme. 

7. Financial and Procurement Implications 

7.1 The Annual Report 2017-18 includes details of Neighbourhood Budgets for 
both capital and revenue budgets.  Overall, wards committed and spent 82% of 
the capital budget and 74% of the revenue budget in 2017/18.   

7.2 It also highlights the requirement to review the ratio of capital-revenue budgets 
and coordinate funding at ward level and across areas to achieve best value, 

Page 25



8

both in terms of aligning resources and exploring joint procurement 
opportunities.   

8. Legal Implications

8.1 There are no direct legal implications.

9. Human Resources Implications

9.1 There are no direct staffing implications.

10. Implications for Children and Young People and Vulnerable Adults

10.1 The outcomes within the Thriving Neighbourhoods Strategy support the 
Council’s priorities: “Every child making the best start in life” and “Every adult 
secure, responsible and empowered”.  

11. Equalities and Human Rights Implications

11.1 The new neighbourhood model should improve the Council’s ability to respond 
to the specific needs of Rotherham’s increasingly diverse communities.  
Engagement with residents needs to take into account the assets and needs of 
different communities of interest. The needs and requirements of the citizens, 
businesses and communities in each ward are different and the new approach 
allows the flexibility to respond to these needs by making the ward the building 
block for community engagement. 

11.2 An initial Equalities Analysis has been completed.  

12. Implications for Partners and Other Directorates

12.1 The Thriving Neighbourhoods Strategy provides the framework for a strategic 
review of how the whole Council engages with its citizens and customers in 
localities.

12.2 Delivery of the Thriving Neighbourhoods Strategy will require a collective effort 
from all Council directorates and partners.  

13. Risks and Mitigation

13.1 There is a risk that the neighbourhood working approach is applied 
inconsistently across wards, causing tension and uncertainty and undermining 
the overall Thriving Neighbourhoods Strategy.  This would be mitigated by 
adoption of recommendations above including proposals for minimum 
requirements and governance arrangements. 

14. Accountable Officer(s)

Shokat Lal, Assistant Chief Executive
Jackie Mould, Head of Performance, Intelligence and Improvement 

Page 26



9

Approvals obtained from:

Named Officer Date
Strategic Director of Finance 
& Customer Services

Judith Badger, 
Strategic Director of 
Finance and 
Customer Services 

Paul Stone,  Head 
of Corporate 
Finance 

14th September 2018

12th September 2018

Assistant Director of 
Legal Services

Dermot Pearson, 
Assistant Director of 
Legal Services 

14th September 

Head of Procurement 
(if appropriate)

N/A N/A

Head of Human Resources 
(if appropriate)

Lee Mann, Assistant 
Director - HR and 
OD

11th September 2018

This report is published on the Council's website or can be found at:-

http://moderngov.rotherham.gov.uk/ieDocHome.aspx?Categories=

Page 27

http://moderngov.rotherham.gov.uk/ieDocHome.aspx?Categories


 
 
 
 

1 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Annual Report 2017/2018 

Neighbourhood Working 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Page 28



 
 
 
 

2 
 
 
 
 
 

Contents  

Section   Page 

1 Foreword – Deputy Leader Gordon Watson 3-4 

2 Introduction  5 

3 Headline findings 5-7 

4 Background 7-8 

5 Work of the Neighbourhood Working Member Forum  8-10 

6 Ward Plans 10 

7 Communicating with Neighbourhoods 10-11 

8 Neighbourhood activity – examples of delivery 11-12 

9 Budgets 13-15 

10 Learning: 

 What has worked well? 

 What hasn’t worked so well? 

 What asset have we drawn on? 

 Who else needs to be involved moving forward? 

 How do we measure success?  

16-19 

11 Recommendations 20-21 

12 Bibliography 22 

 

Appendices  

Appendix 1 Rotherham Metropolitan Borough Council 2018 Ward Plans: 

April 2018 

23-36 

 

  

Page 29



 
 
 
 

3 
 
 
 
 
 

1. Foreword – Councillor Watson, Deputy Leader  

Our vision for Rotherham is for every neighbourhood to be a thriving neighbourhood 
where people have a good quality of life. Last year we set out to develop our new 
neighbourhood working model by working with residents in our wards on the things that 
matter to them. 
 
This report provides an overview of our experiences from the first 12 months of 
neighbourhood working, what we have learned and the areas we want to focus on in the 
future. 
 
Ongoing austerity and the reduction in public finances will continue to provide challenges 
for the Council. This means that we have to work in a different way, make decisions about 
what can be provided by the Council and talk to residents about where they can take more 
responsibility. It is therefore vitally important that the Council works with others to make 
the best use of the available resources and the neighbourhood working model is an 
important vehicle for doing this.  

 
The learning from the last 12 months has informed the development of the Thriving 
Neighbourhoods Strategy 2018-2025 which will be launched later this year. The strategy 
sets out three key outcomes that we hope to achieve by working together with Rotherham 
residents in local neighbourhoods. 
  

 First we want to build on the great community spirit in Rotherham and to know that 
every neighbourhood is safe and welcoming for all, 

 Second we want to take action to improve the health and wellbeing of residents by 
working hand in hand to address issues like loneliness and to make our green 
spaces accessible to everyone and 

 Third we want to harness the skills and capabilities of residents. We know that the 
Council is not able to solve every issue on its own but by building the capacity of 
local communities we can work together to make a difference. 

 
 
Key to success will be the role of local Councillors who will continue to play a central role 
in the new neighbourhood approach. They will do this by building positive relationships 
with local people and partners and using their influence to facilitate local action.  
 
This is already happening across the borough and the report includes many examples of 
the innovative work that has been done by Councillors, officers and residents working 
together. It illustrates how much better our engagement is with residents by reaching out 
to more people on the issues that matter to them.  The plans that we now have in place for 
each ward have provided a focus for community activity and a way of measuring progress, 
and by taking an asset-based approach we will be able to build on the things that work.  
 
I hope that the recommendations in this report will be adopted. I believe that our approach 
to neighbourhood working, listening and working together with residents and partners, can 

Page 30



 
 
 
 

4 
 
 
 
 
 

make a huge difference to local communities, giving them a real voice and helping them to 
thrive. 

 
  

Page 31



 
 
 
 

5 
 
 
 
 
 

2. Introduction 
 
At the meeting of the elected member working group on 16th November 2016, there 
was support for a new neighbourhood working model which would result in the 21 
electoral wards becoming the key building blocks for supporting Councillors in their 
community leadership role. 
 
Cabinet and Commissioners agreed the recommendations for a new neighbourhood 
working model and 12 month transitional plan on 10th April 2017 at the 
Cabinet/Commissioners’ decision-making meeting.  The report also included a 
recommendation for the Improving Places Select Commission (IPSC) and Council to 
receive an annual report on neighbourhood working.  
 
In order to drive this initiative, a neighbourhood working member forum was 
established in May 2017 with a remit to oversee: the new neighbourhood working 
approach including the production and delivery of ward plans, the review of the 
neighbourhood service and the development of the new neighbourhood strategy.  
 
The purpose of this report is to provide an update on the revised working model, one 
year on and an overview of progress in relation to the thriving neighbourhoods 
programme.   
 
This report captures the learning from the transitional year and makes 
recommendations for future delivery. Feedback has been captured from interrogation 
of relevant reports and documents (see bibliography on page 22), interviews with 
elected members and officers and visits to ward projects. 

 
 

3. Headline findings 
 

Transitioning to a new model for neighbourhood working involves transforming the way 

that the Council works, moving away from ‘top-down’ service provision and towards a 

more collaborative approach with communities as active partners.  

Overall, the new model has been well received, with elected members reporting that the 

new arrangements have improved the quality of engagement with residents and provided 

a greater understanding of both local needs and current assets within their wards. 

Members have also reported increased engagement with residents at local surgeries and 

some members have worked with partners in police and housing to deliver joint 

surgeries. 

Page 32



 
 
 
 

6 
 
 
 
 
 

Ward plans have been developed through engagement with residents, identifying local 

strengths and issues. Members and officers have engaged with residents to deliver local 

projects and community activities. Some examples are set out in this report. 

The new model has enabled the innovative use of capital assets to benefit the whole 

community, such as solar lighting to improve community safety and play equipment to 

improve health. It has also enabled smaller pots of revenue funding to be used to 

engage community groups to deliver local projects to meet local priorities, for example 

allotment projects for increased health and wellbeing or youth projects to reduce anti-

social behaviour.  

In the first 12 months, examples of excellent practice are already emerging and a 
number of projects have successfully embraced the principles of the new model. Moving 
forward, the priority is to use the lessons learned from this transitional period to adopt 
good practice more broadly, and to ensure that there is a consistent approach to the new 
neighbourhood working model.  
 
Several wards have established regular ward meetings between members, officers and 
partners in order to drive local delivery and tackle local issues.  These have proved to be 
a very effective way to deliver the priorities in the ward plan. It is proposed therefore that 
this approach is adopted formally across the Borough and that ward meetings should 
take place on a regular basis but a minimum of four times per year. These meetings 
would help to drive the delivery of the ward plans, including monitoring progress and 
managing the devolved budgets.  
 
Devolved budgets both capital and revenue have been used very successfully to support 
local projects. As neighbourhood working progresses and the ward plans become more 
developed there will be a greater need to align budget allocation to ward priorities. To 
achieve this there is a need to harmonise the different decision making processes and 
criteria in relation to the different devolved budgets. It is proposed that there should be a 
review of these with a view to establishing a more consistent approach to the allocation 
of funding. There could also be merit in exploring whether the ward budgets and the 
Community Leadership Fund (CLF) budgets should be pooled thus providing a bigger 
resource for ward based projects. In addition it is proposed that a review of the Area 
Housing Panels is undertaken. These are currently based on the old area assembly 
model and could be revised to fit with the new neighbourhood working model. This could 
provide additional capacity to wards to help them to deliver the ward plans.  
 
There is broad agreement from members and officers that ongoing training and 
development is really important for the success of neighbourhood working. This should 
include practical support and information on local assets as well as professional 
development in areas such as asset based working, engagement models and 
communication. It is proposed that a bespoke programme of development and training is 
co-designed with members in the autumn. 
 

Page 33



 
 
 
 

7 
 
 
 
 
 

More broadly both members and officers have expressed the view that there is a need 
for a wider piece of work to identify how all parts of the Council can, in future, support a 
neighbourhood approach and what staff development is needed to underpin this. 
 
A number of recommendations designed to further improve neighbourhood working are 
set out at the end of this report. 
 

 

4. Background 
 

In April 2016 an elected member working group was established, supported by Council 
officers, chaired by the Cabinet Member for Neighbourhood Working and Cultural 
Services to review existing neighbourhood structures to engage communities in 
decision-making processes.  

 
This work was pivotal within Rotherham Council’s Corporate Improvement Plan, “A 
Fresh Start”, and the specific improvement theme of “strong, high impact partnerships” 
including “active ward Councillors working within neighbourhoods to build community 
and citizens’ capacity”.  
 
The scope of the review comprised three elements: creating a Council-wide policy for 
neighbourhood working, developing a multi-agency approach to neighbourhood 
working; and, following the adoption of the new locality model, a review of the role and 
funding of the Neighbourhood Partnerships and Engagement Service. 

 
The review was overseen by the working group and included desk research to gather 
good practice, visits to other authorities to view models of citizen engagement, and 
consultation with elected members on potential models of delivery. 

 
The proposed model for neighbourhood working was approved by Council in May 2017 
with a one-year transitional plan. 
 
Core elements of the approved model were: 
 

 The removal of the area assembly governance framework and dissolution of area 
assembly coordinating groups. 
 

 That members could agree at a local level how to conduct citizen engagement in a 
flexible and innovative manner. 
 

 That Wards could work together, where needed, in flexible clusters based on 
geography and common interest. 
 

 The introduction of quarterly updates from each ward to Cabinet.  
 

Page 34



 
 
 
 

8 
 
 
 
 
 

 The development of place profiles for each of the 21 wards detailing the 
demographics and community assets of the area. 

 

 That ward plans would be produced and published outlining ward priorities and 
activities aligned to the Corporate Plan. 

 

 That the £30,000 currently allocated for area assembly chairs from the community 
engagement budget in 2017/18 would be distributed evenly to all 21 wards. 

 

 That £210k to be allocated equally across wards from the capital programme in 
2017/18, to be utilised as determined by the neighbourhood. 

 

 The Community Leadership Fund of £1,000 per elected member would continue, 
but Members were encouraged to spend this in line with ward plan priorities.  
 

 That decision making would be delegated to wards with spend approved by the 
Assistant Director of Housing and Neighbourhood Services. 

 

 That officers would explore how support could be provided to members to secure 
additional funding both internally and externally. 

 
 

5. Work of the Neighbourhood Working Member Forum  
 

Since July 2017 the Neighbourhood Working Member Forum has met regularly to 
oversee the implementation of the transitional plan.  

 
Key milestones and timescales for the transitional plan and the elected members 
involved in the working group are outlined in the tables below.  

  

Page 35



 
 
 
 

9 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Table 1: Transitional Plan - Neighbourhood Working  April 2017 to  May 2018 

Milestone 
 

Achieved 

Cabinet approval of Neighbourhood Working Model 
 

 2017 

New Neighbourhood Working Member Forum formally  constituted to 
oversee implementation of the new working arrangements 

May 2017 

Devolved budgets approved as part of the Council budget process 
 

March 2017 

Pilot of ward plans  
 

June  to October 
2017 

Communication Plan produced 
 

December 2017 

Capacity building – ward walks October 2017 to 
January 2018 

Neighbourhood Working Member Forum develop the draft 
Neighbourhood Strategy 

November 2017 

Member and officer seminar on neighbourhood working  
 

December 2017 

Neighbourhood Strategy consultation workshop with elected members 
 

20th December 2017 

Member workshop to review progress implementation  
 

January 2018 

Communications Toolkit completed and published 
 

March 2018 

Training sessions for officers and  elected members on 
Communications Toolkit 
 

23rd April 

Ward plans completed and  published on the  Council website 
 

May 2018 

Web area on Council website for members 
 

May 2018 

Neighbourhood Working Member Forum undertook staffing review with 
a view to  new arrangements being in place by May 2018  

Ongoing 

Case studies developed and published 
 

June 2018 

Review of first year with Neighbourhood Working Member Forum and 
Officer Group  

May / June 2018 

 
  

Page 36



 
 
 
 

10 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Table 2: Councillors involved in the Neighbourhood Forum member working 
group 
Leon Allcock 

Sarah Allen 

Wendy Cooksey 

Robert Elliot 

Stuart Sansome 

David Sheppard 

Taiba Yasseen (Chair from May 2017 – May 2018) 

Gordon Watson (Chair from May 2018 – current) 

 
 

6. Ward plans 
 

Elected member visits to other local authorities showed that planning at ward level is an 
important building block with regards to neighbourhood working and relationships with 
communities. Annual ward plans support wider delivery by documenting the issues 
affecting the ward and the detailed actions required to address them.  
 
Place profiles were developed for each of the 21 wards, providing demographics and 
detailing the community assets of the area.  

 
Elected members carried out an extensive consultation within their wards with residents 
to share information on local resources and need, agree local priorities and to develop 
the ward plans.  Once approved, plans for each of the 21 wards were published on the 
democracy area of the Council’s website.  

 
Financial decision-making was delegated to individual wards with spend approved by 
the Assistant Director of Housing and Neighbourhood Services.  
 

7. Communicating with Neighbourhoods 
 

The Council’s Communications and Marketing Team has worked with elected members 
to develop a corporate communications package providing:  
 

 Training on the use of social media and writing newsletter and press releases 

 Corporate templates for ward plans, posters, newsletters and letterheads.  
 
A Twitter and Facebook account have been established and both are used by members 
and officers to promote work and engage with residents.  
 
A new area on the Council website – Your Neighbourhood – has been developed which 
incorporates information about each ward, local news and details of the local 
Councillors.  

Page 37



 
 
 
 

11 
 
 
 
 
 

 
A new post of Senior Communications Officer has been created within the 
Neighbourhood Partnership Team, whose role will be to develop a communications 
campaign to support Councillors and Council staff to engage local residents and 
encourage them to get involved in improving neighbourhoods, ensuring they are places 
where people are proud to live. 
 

8. Neighbourhood activity – approach and examples of delivery 

 
A key desired outcome of the new neighbourhood working model is the adoption of a 

community development and engagement approach which is about “working with” 

residents on the things that matter to them. This could include co-designing solutions 

with residents and building on individual and community assets. Community assets 

include physical assets as well personal, social and community assets. With increased 

and ongoing fiscal austerity, the development of an asset-based approach, bringing 

together partners and the community, to align resource both financial and voluntary, 

brings the capacity to deliver more cost-effective local solutions.  

A range of projects have been commissioned through delegated revenue and capital 

budgets in 2017/18 or delivered through partnership arrangements to address ward 

plan priorities. Examples of these projects and how they contribute towards an asset-

based approach are outlined below. 

8.1 Making better use of physical assets    
A core component of the asset-based approach is ensuring that physical assets are 

being utilised in the best way for local people.   

Ward budgets have therefore been utilised to purchase physical assets that will help to 

achieve local priorities. One example is in Boston Castle, where ward budgets were 

used to fund the installation of a community gym in Clifton Park following requests from 

residents. Feedback from the community and the Council’s Green Spaces Team has 

been extremely positive, and the equipment has been so well-used that members have 

invested further to expand the gym.  

Similarly, projects have also focussed on making improvements to existing physical 

assets to ensure that they can be better utilised. An example of this approach is in 

Wingfield where the ward budget helped to refurbish a closed community centre for a 

TARA and other groups to use. The Mayor officially opened the new centre on Tuesday 

19th June 2018. Members are now working on the refurbishment of a local library which 

will have more community space and provide hot-desking facilities for housing and 

police staff.  

 

Page 38



 
 
 
 

12 
 
 
 
 
 

8.2 Bringing together partners and the community   
Key to the success of the new neighbourhood working model is ensuring that the 
Council is working effectively with partners and residents.  
 
Road safety is an example of one issue where it is vital for the Council to work in 

partnership. The Neighbourhoods Team has been working jointly with local schools and 

communities across the borough to tackle issues relating to road safety, including in 

Wales, Brinsworth, Catcliffe, Rother Vale and Silverwood. Projects have varied in their 

approach and have included providing 20mph speed signage around schools and 

funding school crossing patrols. The involvement of communities and schools in these 

projects was instrumental to their success. 

There are also examples of wards coming together and taking a joint commissioning 

approach to tackle key issues. This has included projects around community safety, 

such as the joint commissioning of solar lighting across Maltby, Wickersley and Wales 

and the joint commissioning of Youth Diversionary Projects in Dinnington and Maltby. 

This approach has proven beneficial in these cases as a way of making the most of the 

devolved funding.  

8.3  Building community capacity  
Many communities are already actively contributing to the outcomes that matter to 
them, and the Council is working to further empower residents and community groups 
through the devolution of funding.  

 
One way of devolving this funding has been through the series of Dragon’s Den events 
that have been held across the borough, whereby community groups and residents 
pitch for funding. The value to these events is not only the funding that groups receive, 
but the connections it creates between different areas of the community. Following the 
Keppel Dragon’s Den event, one community group member stated:  
 

“The event gave me an opportunity to meet other groups within our ward area and 
this I found most valuable. It was quite humbling to hear of people who struggle to 
provide the ways and means to help their fellow neighbours by providing basic things 
such as transport or tidy gardens that most of us take for granted. It was inspiring to 
see people go out of their way to make their situations better.”  

 
Additionally, there are some excellent examples of community groups driving positive 
change in their neighbourhoods, such as the Friends of Rawmarsh and Parkgate Green 
Spaces group. This group was formed in March 2017 to help protect, maintain and 
improve the local environment and is now formally constituted as a Charitable 
Incorporated Organisation, working widely with other groups including schools, 
businesses and sports groups. The success of this group is an example of how 
empowered community groups play a vital role in achieving positive outcomes in 
neighbourhoods.  

Page 39



 
 
 
 

13 
 
 
 
 
 

 

9. Budgets 

 
Each of the 21 wards received a devolved revenue budget of £1,453 for the 2017/18 
financial year to fund ward plan priorities. In addition, RMBC allocated £10,000 capital 
investment funding to each ward from the Capital Programme (capital receipts). A 
breakdown of revenue and capital expenditure is outlined in Table 3 and table 4.  

 
Overall, wards committed and spent 82% of the capital budget  and 74% of the revenue 
budget in 2017/18. In some cases, there were unavoidable delays in budget 
expenditure often related to capital projects or in-house projects requiring quotes, 
delivery and installation e.g. hubs and area based improvements (Wingfield). 
Unallocated funds have been carried over to 2018/19. 
 
The following tables outline the budget and expenditure per ward for the new model for 
Neighbourhood working for 2017/18. Table 3 outlines the capital budget, expenditure 
and commitments, not including any budget carried forward from the Area Assembly 
model. Table 4 outlines the revenue budget, expenditure and commitments.  
 
These tables do not include Community Leadership Fund (CLF) budgets or expenditure 
because the way that this is currently recorded does not harmonise with the new model 
for neighbourhood working. It is part of the recommendations of this report that the 
option of pooling devolved budgets, such as the CLF budget and the ward budgets 
should be considered. 

  

Page 40



 
 
 
 

14 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Table 3: Neighbourhoods Budgets – Capital 

  Budget 2017/18 
2017/18 Actual 

Expenditure   
Commited 

spend c/fwd 

Total 
expenditure 

and 
commitments, 

2017/18 

North 

Valley 10,000 0 7,710 7,710 

Silverwood 10,000 8,515 0 8,515 

Rawmarsh 10,000 6,533 0 6,533 

Wath 10,000 2,000 1,500 3,500 

Swinton 10,000 4,615 3,250 7,865 

Hoober 10,000 6,209 1,150 7,359 

          

South 

Dinnington 10,000 10,001 0 10,001 

Anston Woodsetts 10,000 10,000 0 10,000 

Wales 10,000 10,000 0 10,000 

Rother Vale 10,000 6,928 2,870 9,798 

Holderness 10,000 4,854 5,202 10,056 

Brinsworth/ Catcliffe 10,000 9,034 900 9,934 

Maltby 10,000 3,870 6,130 10,000 

Hellaby 10,000 10,000 0 10,000 

Wickersley 10,000 383 3,200 3,583 

          

Central 

Keppel 10,000 500 7,017 7,517 

Wingfield 10,000 0 12,129 12,129 

Rotherham West 10,000 4,255 0 4,255 

Rotherham East 10,000 3,840 3,750 7,590 

Boston Castle 10,000 7,402 614 8,016 

Sitwell 10,000 1,000 10,640 11,640 

          

Total 210,000 109,933 61,311 171,245 

 
  

Page 41



 
 
 
 

15 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Table 4: Neighbourhoods Budgets – Revenue  

  Budget 2017/18 
2017/18 
Actual 

Expenditure   

Commited 
spend c/fwd 

Total 
expenditure 

and 
commitments, 

2017/18 

North 

Valley 1,453 0   0 

Silverwood 1,453 750 0 750 

Rawmarsh 1,453 1,066 0 1,066 

Wath 1,453 485  0 485 

Swinton 1,453 1,103  0 1,103 

Hoober 1,453 20   20 

          

South 

Dinnington 1,453 1,450 0 1,450 

Anston Woodsetts 1,453 782 660 1,442 

Wales 1,453 988 309 1,297 

Rother Vale 1,453 691 0 691 

Holderness 1,453 0 1,015 1,015 

Brinsworth/ Catcliffe 1,453 785 330 1,115 

Maltby 1,453 550 380 930 

Hellaby 1,453 1,450 0 1,450 

Wickersley 1,453 1,453 0 1,453 

          

Central 

Keppel 1,453 0 1,350 1,350 

Wingfield 1,453 1,450 0 1,450 

Rotherham West 1,453 0 975 975 

Rotherham East 1,453 1,452 0 1,452 

Boston Castle 1,453 1,453 0 1,453 

Sitwell 1,453 1,000 500 1,500 

          

Total 30,513 16,928 5,519 22,447 

 
 
 
 

Page 42



 
 
 
 

16 
 
 
 
 
 

10. Learning  
 

The last 12 months have provided the opportunity for members and officers to develop 
the new neighbourhood working model. In December, two member workshops were 
held to assess how things were working on the ground and to get feedback on the 
learning so far. A number of members have also been interviewed to gather their views. 
These are summarised below: 

 
10.1 What has worked well? 
Members, in the main, feel that area assemblies often attracted the same audience at 

every meeting whereas by utilising a range of engagement and communication 

methods the new approach has meant they are able to reach more residents, build 

closer relationships with their communities and partner organisations and - most 

importantly - align and share resources.  This more diverse variety of engagement 

methods has allowed Councillors to extend their reach with residents. Activities 

included:  

 “Councillors on tour” and ward walks  

 Ward plan celebration events 

 Community drop-ins 

 “Meet your Councillor” events at supermarkets, summer fayres and galas, and 

coffee mornings  

 Outreach activity to sheltered housing or residential homes 

 Dragons Den community funding events  

 Formal scheduled ward network events involving the public and local voluntary, 

community and faith groups 

 The “Wingfield Wednesday” group where members meet every six weeks with 

schools, children’s services, housing, highways and the police to discuss issues     

 Increased use of email, Facebook, Twitter, blogs and newsletters, as well as 

linking to school email systems to disseminate information to parents  

 

Ward plans have proven useful in providing a reader-friendly summary of local 
demographic information, known and emerging issues and planned actions.  The report 
attached at appendix 1 provides a summary of the issues covered in the ward plans. 
Members were positive about the dedicated officer support which, together with the 
devolved ward budgets, has enabled them to focus on their own wards, developing 
bespoke approaches and avoiding tensions between wards.  In some cases, members 
have agreed to pool the Community Leadership Fund with the ward budget to provide 
increased alignment and greater impact.  A number of members have reported that 
they now feel more confident disbursing grants and managing larger budgets. 
  

Page 43



 
 
 
 

17 
 
 
 
 
 

Guided by ward plans, members have seen increased coordination and alignment of 
activity across partner organisations, reducing duplication of effort.  There are more 
opportunities to initiate ward-based projects and cross-ward activity is also starting to 
emerge. Examples include community safety solar lighting projects in Maltby, 
Wickersley and Wales.  
 
Finally, the approach to member surgeries has improved, with more residents raising 
issues and some Councillors planning joint surgeries on a less frequent basis or 
coordinating meetings to include other partners such as housing and South Yorkshire 
Police. 

 
10.2 What hasn’t worked well? 
In terms of member engagement it was suggested that a training and development for 
members around community engagement and asset-based working, possibly 
incorporating a buddying or mentoring scheme would be beneficial. 

 
Other identified areas of training include casework management, dealing with 
complaints, and understanding the role and contribution of umbrella organisations such 
as Voluntary Action Rotherham, Rotherfed and Age UK. 
 
Ward plans are user-friendly in terms of language, but the level of detail on priorities 
and actions is variable.  Many wards do, however, have more detailed action plans at a 
local level which enable members to monitor progress. 
 
Currently, there isn’t a consistent approach at area level to engage and bring together 
public, private and voluntary agencies to improve the coordination of activity and enable 
new ideas to develop. The new community safety arrangements are helping to address 
this issue, as are the multi-agency groups that are starting to gather momentum, 
working on a north, south and central footprint.  Neighbourhood partnership officers are 
involved in both and will help to ensure the emerging structures are aware of ward-
based issues and priorities. 

 
It was also noted that links between parish Councils and members vary across the 
borough, and there is a need to improve relationships in some parishes to support local 
planning and delivery.   Similarly, there are opportunities to achieve greater alignment 
with area housing panels and the budgets they oversee. 
 
In terms of finances, the working group felt that the level of devolved budget, although 
modest, was appropriate for the first year.  However, capital as a percentage of the 
total budget was thought, by some, to be too high and a more flexible approach was 
preferred.  In some areas, budgets were not spent, and it was suggested that spend 
details are published so that residents are aware. 
 
Some members have suggested that devolved budgets should be apportioned based 
on deprivation levels as this would better reflect the level of resource needed across 

Page 44



 
 
 
 

18 
 
 
 
 
 

wards.  One approach could be for baseline budgets to be topped up utilising other 
sources of funding such as the area housing budgets. 
 
Finally, it was noted that many local groups need support to draw up a constitution and 
access funding. This kind of support is available from Voluntary Action Rotherham as 
part of their infrastructure grant agreement with the Council. 
 
 
10.3 What assets can we draw on? 
A range of personal, social, community and physical assets have been highlighted by 
members and include:  
 

 The Community Leadership Fund and the ward level budgets 
 

 Voluntary, community and faith groups and uniformed groups. These groups 
already provide  a range of activities at local level and these need to be 
incorporated and aligned in ward plans 
 

 Schools which can provide an excellent vehicle  for communication to parents 
and children and engagement in ward activities  

 

 Community centres could be used more widely making them easier to hire and 
raising awareness of their facilities to residents 

 

 Frontline staff from statutory agencies who are already working on the ground 
 

 Sports clubs 
 

 Private sector involvement and encouraging local businesses to contribute  
funding or volunteering to deliver ward priorities 

 

 External funding (e.g. Heritage Lottery Fund /Don Valley Catchment Trust/Big 
Lottery) to deliver capital and revenue activity  

 

 Utilising forgotten/disused land or other outdoor spaces for projects, e.g. 
allotment projects 

 

 Revitalising buildings via community asset transfer can provide local community 
hubs 

 

 Neighbourhood Watch in terms of crime and antisocial behaviour 
 

 Voluntary sector umbrella organisations such as Rotherfed and Voluntary Action 
Rotherham who can provide support for groups to become formally constituted in 
order to access funding 

Page 45



 
 
 
 

19 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 The National Citizenship Service who can support young volunteers to deliver 
projects in the community.   

 
10.4 Who else needs to be more closely involved? 
Elected Members have identified a range of organisations that need to be involved 
as the neighbourhood working approach evolves. These vary from ward to ward and 
include: 
 

 Parish Councils  

 RotherFed / Tenants and Residents Associations (Tara’s)  

 Schools 

 Police 

 Fire and Rescue 

 Health 

 Children and Families Services – Social Care and Early Help  

 Rotary clubs / Roundtable / Lions 

 Local volunteers 

 Uniformed organisations 

 Churches 

 Both national and local businesses  
 
 

10.5 How can we measure success? 
 

An asset-based approach (ABA) focuses on building the skills and strengths within 

communities and the positive capacity of individuals and communities rather than solely 

on the needs, deficits and problems. 

  

The challenge in measuring the impact of asset-based approaches is to ensure that 

evaluation is valuable, relevant and proportionate; balancing the need for evidence of 

what works alongside maintaining quality trusting relationships with the community.  

There currently isn’t a clear framework for measuring success but whatever is 

implemented needs to reflect both outputs and outcomes which need to be measured 

from a community perspective. 

 

One model that could be adopted to address this is an outcome-based accountability 

(OBA) model. The OBA model focusses on measuring the impact of asset-based 

approaches with all stakeholders and using locally devised frameworks to measure 

softer outcomes, e.g. health, social or environmental outcomes utilising citizen surveys, 

resident satisfaction surveys or case studies. 

  

Page 46



 
 
 
 

20 
 
 
 
 
 

11. Recommendations 

Successful neighbourhood working involves proactive engagement with residents and 

drawing on local assets in terms of buildings, people and organisations. In the first year 

of the new arrangements, steady progress has been made in engaging the public, 

voluntary, community and private sectors in terms of sharing assets and working as 

partners in commissioning local activities to meet ward priorities.  

In order to further embed the model consistently across wards over the next year, the 
following recommendations are made: 
 

1. Communication and engagement 
 

a) Promote the Thriving Neighbourhoods Strategy amongst residents, community 
organisations, Council staff and partners in order to get people involved and to 
explore opportunities for joint delivery. 
 

b) Ensure that members, Council officers, partners and local people know where to 
find information on local assets and that the information is regularly refreshed to 
ensure it remains accurate.  

 
c) Provide support to community groups, particularly in relation to developing a 

constitution and applying for funding, or ensure they are consistently signposted to 
support that is already available (i.e. from VAR or RotherFed).  

 
2. Governance 

 
a) Continue to use the Neighbourhood Member Working Forum to drive business 

and to monitor progress of the neighbourhood working model. 
 
b) Ensure that each ward plan is refreshed and includes clear actions up to 2020. 
 
c) Establish a set of minimum requirements for the governance of neighbourhood 

working including: 
 

 

 Formalising ward meetings and ensuring that a minimum of 4 meetings take 
place per year in each ward. The ward meetings should bring together ward 
members and officers to review delivery of the ward plan and to make 
decisions regarding devolved budgets and key priorities such as CCTV 
deployment 

 Developing a resident engagement strategy in each ward as part of the 
development of the ward plan. 

 

Page 47



 
 
 
 

21 
 
 
 
 
 

d) Consider the option of pooling devolved budgets (for example, the CLF budget 
and the ward budget) and harmonise the processes for allocating funding. 
 

e) Design and implement a robust evaluation framework to measure impact and 
outcomes. 

 
 

3. Joint working and coordination of activity 
 
a) Review the Area Housing Panels to align them with the new neighbourhood 

working model. 
 

b) Forge closer relationships with Parish Councils by working together on shared 
priorities and reducing duplication of effort. 

 
c) Embed an asset based approach by ensuring ongoing training and development 

for members and officers. 
 

d) Implement the Thriving Neighbourhoods strategy across the Council and clarify 
how each part of the Council will support neighbourhood working. 

 

 

  

Page 48



 
 
 
 

22 
 
 
 
 
 

12. Bibliography  

Table 4 Bibliography  

Rotherham Council’s Corporate Improvement Plan, “A Fresh Start” (2015), 

Review of Neighbourhood Working (Cabinet and Commissioners Decision Making 

Meeting  (10 April 2017) 

Review of Neighbourhood Working Cabinet and Commissioners’ Decision Making 

Meeting (10 October 2016) 

Neighbourhood Working Model Cabinet and Full Council (July 2017).  

 

Report authors: 

 

Jackie Mould: Head of performance, Intelligence and Improvement 

Colette Bailey: Head of Service North- lead youth, early help & family support 

 

Supported by:   

 

Miles Crompton, Policy and Partnerships Officer  

Rebecca Woolley, National Management Trainee  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 49



 
 
 
 

23 
 
 
 
 
 

0
5

10
15
20
25
30
35
40
45

Total

Appendix 1 - Rotherham Metropolitan Borough Council 2018 Ward 

Plans: April 2018 

Purpose   
 
Rotherham Metropolitan Borough Council (RMBC) is undergoing a transition to a 
new neighbourhood working model, which is defined by an asset-based community 
development (ABCD) approach.  As part of this transition, the borough has been 
divided into three areas (North, South and Central) and individual plans have been 
produced for each ward within the borough.  
 
The purpose of this report is to:    
   

 Review known and emerging issues from the ward plans  

 Identify common themes across each area (North, South, Central) and 

opportunities for wards to work on issues together  

 Outline the assets identified in the ward plans for each area  

 

Key Findings  
   
There was a level of consensus across the borough, with wards within all three areas 
identifying similar known and emerging issues.  
 
The issues cited in the ward plans have been collated into broad themes. The 
following diagram demonstrates the frequency with which these themes arose 
across all of the ward plans:  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Figure 1: Issues within ward plans categorised into themes    

Page 50



 
 
 
 

24 
 
 
 
 
 

It is important to note that the South area is made up of 9 wards, whilst the North and 
Central are made up of 6 each. This means that theoretically, for issues to be evenly 
distributed, the figures for the South should be 1.5 times higher than those for the 
Central and North areas. Therefore, if certain themes emerged more frequently 
within ward plans for the South area, these issues may not actually be more 
prevalent proportionate to the number of wards the South area encompasses.   
An analysis of the ward plans revealed the following findings:  
 

 The top three known and emerging issues within the ward plans for the South 

were Environmental Issues (19 mentions), Crime and Community Safety (17 

mentions) and Roads and Transport (14 mentions.)  

 The Central area had the same top three known and emerging issues as the 

South. However, issues relating to Crime and Community Safety were the 

most prevalent by a significant margin, with 14 mentions, followed by 8 

mentions of issues relating to the environment and 7 relating to roads and 

transport. Proportionate to the number of wards, issues relating to Crime and 

Community Safety were mentioned more frequently within the Central area in 

contrast with the South and North.  

 Within the North area of the borough, Environmental Issues was the most 

frequently cited theme (14 mentions), followed by Crime and Community 

Safety (11 mentions) and Facilities (8 mentions.)  

In contrast, issues relating to Education, Housing and Employment, Skills and 
Income were identified as known and emerging issues in significantly fewer ward 
plans across the borough. However, whilst a large number of ward plans did not 
explicitly identify these as known and emerging issues, this does not mean that there 
are not challenges relating to each of these across the borough.  
 
For some themes, such as Environmental Issues, the challenges were cross-cutting 
throughout the borough, (for example, fly-tipping, dog-fouling and littering were 
frequently mentioned across all three areas.) However, for other themes, such as 
Roads and Transport, differing priorities emerged; road safety was mentioned in a 
significant number of ward plans within the South, but in no ward plans within the 
North or Central, indicating that there are issues that only apply to certain areas of 
the borough. Figure 2 (see below) displays the frequency with which themes 
emerged within the three areas.   
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 51



 
 
 
 

25 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Furthermore, in terms of mapping the issues geographically, it is also important to 
note that all three areas have wards which border (see map below). This is relevant 
as within the ward plans, there was evidence of issues that are geographically 
isolated to bordering wards, but which cross area boundaries. Therefore, it will be 
vital that the approach of the new model facilitates opportunities for areas to work 
together on shared issues.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Deprivation was also an indicator for some issues, but not others. For example, 
speeding was cited as an issue in the most deprived ward, the least deprived ward 
and in a range of wards in between. However, anti-social behaviour emerged more 
frequently within wards facing significant challenges around deprivation.  

Figure 3: Map of Rotherham by wards and area  

0
2
4
6
8

10
12
14
16
18
20

North

South

Central

Figure 2: Number of times each theme was cited within the ward plans  

Page 52



 
 
 
 

26 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Interestingly, deprivation also appears to impact on how wards intend to address 
certain issues. For example, the two most deprived wards identified different actions 
relating to addressing environmental issues, than any of the other wards.  
 
Additionally, there were key differences relating to the numbers of community assets 
identified within each area. Figure 4 (see below) demonstrates that the ward plans 
within the Central area identified significantly higher numbers of individuals and 
groups that are considered to be community assets than the South or North areas – 
(although it should be noted that this may have been impacted by Keppel, which was 
a significant outlier, identifying 35 individuals/groups out of the total of 123 identified 
within the area.) It is also important to note that two wards from the South 
(Brinsworth and Catcliffe and Rother Vale) failed to explicitly mention any assets 
within their ward. This is likely to have skewed the overall figures for the South area.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Overall, the ward plans do present a view of certain differing priorities and 
characteristics within each area. However, whilst some issues can be mapped by 
geographical area, many cannot, and there are a number of issues that do not 
appear to fit comfortably within area boundaries. This includes issues that do not 
appear to be influenced by geography at all, issues that are geographical but which 
cross area boundaries and issues that are cross-cutting and borough-wide.  
 
Deprivation 
 
As key differences emerged regarding the known and emerging issues within wards 
depending on the levels of deprivation, it is vital to understand the current context 
relating the deprivation in the borough.  

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

South Central North

Individuals/Groups

Buildings

Figure 4: Community assets identified within ward plans    

Page 53



 
 
 
 

27 
 
 
 
 
 

Rotherham is one of the most deprived 20% of English districts and deprivation 
affects all wards to a greater or lesser degree. The main forms of deprivation 
affecting Rotherham are high worklessness, poor health and low qualifications. Low 
income is also an issue, especially affecting children in the more deprived areas and 
high crime rates are a problem in many deprived neighbourhoods. Poor housing 
conditions exist mainly in the private rented sector which is an issue for a few areas. 
A key message from analysis of deprivation data over the last ten years has been 
the increasingly polarised nature of the Borough with deprivation increasing in those 
areas already deprived and reducing in the least deprived areas. 
 
The general pattern features a large concentration of high deprivation across the 
Central area. Rotherham East is the most deprived ward in Rotherham and almost 
all parts of the ward are affected. Boston Castle, Rotherham West and Wingfield are 
also amongst the most deprived five wards in Rotherham. 
 
Elsewhere there are pockets of high deprivation within more mixed communities. 
North Rotherham has high deprivation in Valley ward, ranked second in the Borough, 
and there are smaller pockets in each ward. South Rotherham is generally the least 
deprived part of the Borough although there is still significant deprivation in former 
mining communities such as Maltby (the most deprived ward in the South) and 
Dinnington. 
 

 
 
 
 
The graph above shows that 31% of Super Output Areas (SOAs) in Central 
Rotherham are in the most deprived 10% of England compared with only 10% in 

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

35%

Deprivation - IMD 2015 Deciles 

Central

North

South

Figure 5: IMD 2015 Deprivation Deciles by Area 

Page 54



 
 
 
 

28 
 
 
 
 
 

South Rotherham. About three quarters of areas in both Central and North are more 
deprived than the national average whereas South is more balanced between high 
and low deprivation with over half the area being within 20% of the national average. 
 

 
Estimated IMD scores are calculated by adding the population weighted scores for 
SOAs (or part) within the ward and dividing by the population. 
Equivalent SOA rank is the rank the estimated ward (or district) score would have if it 
were attributed to an SOA, ranked out of 32,844 SOAs in England.  
 
 

Rotherham Wards by Estimated IMD 2015 Score and Equivalent SOA Rank* 

Ward Average 
IMD Score 

Equivalent 
SOA Rank 

Percentile 
(top x%) 

Rotherham 
Rank 

North Rotherham 

Hoober 26.8 9,839 30% 9 

Rawmarsh 32.5 7,114 22% 7 

Silverwood 22.4 12,442 38% 13 

Swinton 27.4 9,521 29% 8 

Valley 45.3 3,123 10% 2 

Wath 25.9 10,345 31% 11 

Central Rotherham 

Boston Castle 37.5 5,300 16% 5 

Keppel 20.8 13,646 42% 15 

Rotherham East 57.7 1,139 4% 1 

Rotherham West 42.3 3,843 12% 3 

Sitwell 12.4 21,370 65% 21 

Wingfield 40.3 4,413 13% 4 

South Rotherham 

Anston & Woodsetts 14.2 19,404 59% 19 

Brinsworth & 
Catcliffe 

20.2 14,102 43% 16 

Dinnington 26.6 9,909 30% 10 

Hellaby 13.1 20,594 63% 20 

Holderness 21.6 12,999 40% 14 

Maltby 36.6 5,584 17% 6 

Rother Vale 23.2 11,953 36% 12 

Wales 14.9 18,739 57% 18 

Wickersley 19.8 14,421 44% 17 

ROTHERHAM 28.3 9,023 28%  

 

Key to Colour Codes 

Most Deprived 10%  

Most Deprived 10-20%  

Most Deprived 20-30%  

Most Deprived 30-50%  

Least Deprived 50%  

 

Page 55



 
 
 
 

29 
 
 
 
 
 

Thematic Analysis  
 
Environmental Issues  
  
Environmental issues emerged as a key theme across the borough, featuring within 
every single ward plan. This was the theme that came up the most frequently in ward 
plans within both the South and the North, which suggests that improving the 
environment is a headline priority. As every ward plan referred to these types of 
issues, there appears to be no clear correlation between demographics and 
environmental issues within neighbourhoods.  
 
The types of issues that were mentioned were largely consistent across all three 
areas. These were: fly-tipping, littering and dog-fouling, as well as unspecific 
mentions of ‘environmental issues.’ As well as these issues, two wards plans from 
the North also mentioned other issues: graffiti (Wath) and the need for cleaner, 
greener space (Hoober). This could indicate that some of the wards within the North 
area face different challenges around maintaining pleasant built-up spaces.   
 
Within the action plan section, a significant portion mentioned community litter-picks. 
There may therefore, be an opportunity to coordinate litter-picking initiatives across 
ward boundaries.  
 
The two most deprived wards (Rotherham East and Valley) both mentioned the 
development of artwork in public spaces as an action around improving the 
environment. This indicates that although environmental issues are a priority across 
all of the wards, the most deprived wards aim to address these in different ways.  
 
Roads, Transport and Traffic   
 
Issues relating to road, transport and traffic were also frequently cited in ward plans 
across all three areas, with 17 of the 21 ward plans mentioning issues that fell within 
this category. However, different priorities emerged for each area within this theme.  
 
The most prevalent issue within ward plans from the South area of the borough was 
road safety, whilst this was not mentioned in any of the ward plans from the North or 
Central areas. Similarly, speeding emerged as the most frequently cited issue within 
the Central ward plans, yet this did not emerge as an issue within any of the ward 
plans from the South, and in only one ward plan from the North (Valley) which 
borders the Central area. Furthermore, the condition of roads was mentioned within 
a significant portion of ward plans for the South and the North, whilst this was 
mentioned in none of the Central ward plans. This indicates that there is a diverse 
range of issues facing the borough in relation to roads, transport and traffic, and that 
these differ based on geographical area.  
 
For some issues, deprivation appears not to be an indicator. As an example, 
speeding was cited as an issue in the most deprived ward, the least deprived ward 

Page 56



 
 
 
 

30 
 
 
 
 
 

and a diverse demographic of wards in between. In contrast, issues relating to road 
safety appeared only in the lesser deprived half of wards.  
 
Crime and Community Safety  
  
Crime and Community Safety emerged from the ward plans as a significant issue 
across the borough, with 17 of 21 ward plans citing these types of issues. This was 
the most prevalent theme in the ward plans from the Central area.  
 
The majority of ward plans cited relatively broad issues within this theme, such as 
community safety or crime and anti-social behaviour. Although these are relatively 
general categories, there was a clear correlation between deprivation and the issues 
cited – the most deprived wards identified crime and anti-social behaviour as an 
issue, whilst the lesser deprived wards (with the exception of Wickersley) cited 
community safety. This may be a matter of semantics, but it may suggest that there 
are different issues relating to crime and community safety emerging in wards 
dependent on levels of deprivation.  
 
Rotherham East, Rotherham West, Wingfield and Rawmarsh specifically cited drug 
and alcohol usage and drug-dealing as key issues. These are neighbouring wards 
meaning that there is an opportunity for wards to work in collaboration to determine 
hotspots for criminal activity relating to drugs.   
 
The ward plans also suggest that issues relating to anti-social transport behaviour 
are emerging within pockets of the borough. For example, bordering wards 
Rotherham East and Silverwood, both mentioned nuisance motorbikes as an issue. 
Similarly, off-road biking was also mentioned as a key issue within the plans for 
neighbouring wards, Wingfield and Rawmarsh. Therefore, there could be an 
opportunity for these wards to collaborate in mapping the hotspots and causes 
behind these issues.  
 
In terms of actions to address Crime and ASB within the ward plans, the most 
frequently proposed actions were partnership working with the police and working to 
identify hotspots for anti-social behaviour.   
 
Facilities and Activities  
   
The need to improve facilities and activities was also a significant theme within the 
ward plans, although this emerged more frequently within the ward plans for the 
North than it did within the ward plans from the South or Central area.  
 
In terms of the types of facilities and activities that the ward plans mentioned, the 
majority referred to facilities or activities for young people and their families, with the 
mention of ‘diversionary activities’ coming up in multiple ward plans. There was no 
evident correlation regarding the need for improved facilities and activities for young 

Page 57



 
 
 
 

31 
 
 
 
 
 

people and levels of deprivation. This may indicate that the borough-wide offer for 
children and young people in Rotherham is not meeting residents’ expectations.  
 
Certain ward plans also mentioned improvements to be made to existing facilities 
such as Lyme Tree Recreational Ground (Hellaby) and making better use of existing 
facilities, such as Neighbourhood Centres (Valley.) Valley in particular mentioned the 
need to map facilities to open them up for residents and community groups.  
 
Employment, Skills and Income Deprivation 
 
Unsurprisingly, all six of the most deprived wards within the borough featured 
employment, skills or income deprivation as known and emerging issues. All of these 
wards are either within the most deprived 10% or 20% of wards in England.   
 
One of the key issues that emerged within these wards was low levels of adult 
education, and the relationship between employment and skills, which is consistent 
with the information around deprivation that is outlined above. However, within the 
action plan section, none of the ward plans proposed actions relating to improving 
the skills profile of adults with no or low qualifications. This indicates that it may not 
be clear how to address these kinds of issues at a local level, and there may be a 
need for a coordinated and strategic borough-wide approach.  
 
Some ward plans also raised issues around increasing polarisation in terms of skills 
deprivation. With regards to qualifications, this was particularly evident within the 
Central wards such as Keppel and Boston Castle. For example, within both of these 
wards, the proportion of adults with higher qualifications exceeds the borough 
average, but the proportion of adults with no qualifications is also above the borough 
average. Such polarisation poses a significant issue to community cohesion. 
However, in seeking ‘local solutions to local problems’ the high proportion of adults 
with higher qualifications could be an asset and a resource for upskilling the 
community as a whole.  
 
A number of the plans also mentioned that there are portions of wards that are 
significantly more deprived than the ward as a whole. Examples include Flanderwell 
in Wickersley and either side of Lordens Hill in Dinnington. The Wickersley ward plan 
also raised the issue of income deprivation amongst the older populace as a known 
and emerging issue.  
 
Health and Wellbeing  
 
Health and wellbeing featured in a signficant number of ward plans, and there were 
clear differences between the types of issues coming out in each area.  
 
Four of the ward plans within the South mentioned loneliness and social isolation in 
older people. In terms of deprivation, these wards are relatively varied, but all fall 
within the lower half of the deprivation ranking for the borough, which indicates that 

Page 58



 
 
 
 

32 
 
 
 
 
 

there may be an inverse correlation between deprivation and social isolation 
amongst the elderly. Another ward plan from the South mentioned mental health 
awareness as a key issue, and there are clear linkages between the need for 
increased awareness of mental health issues and the prevalence of social isolation 
and loneliness. 
 
Within ward plans for the Central area, the issues were more broadly cited as ‘health 
deprivation.’ The majority of wards which mentioned health deprivation in these 
broad terms were ranked within the top 10 in the borough in terms of wider 
deprivation issues. This suggests that there is a clear correlation between economic 
and health deprivation.  
 
In contrast, within the North only one ward plan cited issues relating to health and 
wellbeing, and this was specifically regarding the ageing population.   
 
Community Cohesion and Engagement  
 
Community cohesion and engagement was mentioned across ward plans in all three 
areas, and a number of issues came out. The most prevalent issue was the need to 
celebrate heritage, as this was raised in ward plans within both the South and 
Central areas. In terms of actions, these wards suggested positive and engaging 
events and initiatives as a means of achieving this goal.  
 
Similarly, a ward plan from the North raised the issue to recognise strong 
communities and distinct geographic identities. This indicates that there is a strong 
sense of community within the North area which could be a significant asset for the 
new neighbourhood working model, but that this is relatively localised to specific 
neighbourhoods.  
 
The need to improve engagement practices was also a common issue, although the 
focus was different depending upon the ward. One ward plan within the South noted 
that there was a need to improve engagement with particular groups, notably young 
people and the elderly. Within the Central area, the focus was around engaging on 
particular issues, i.e. acknowledging diversity within the ward through engagement. 
Finally, within the North, one ward plan focussed on the methods of engagement, 
arguing that there was a need to utilise social media to support engagement.    
 
Education  
 
Education did not emerge as an issue within ward plans for the North or Central 
areas, but it was mentioned in ward plans for the South. The key issues that were 
mentioned were:  

 Family learning  

 Schools provision  

Page 59



 
 
 
 

33 
 
 
 
 
 

The fact that education did not emerge as a common issue indicates that there is a 
high level of satisfaction with the education offer within the borough.  
 
Housing  
 
Issues relating to housing emerged within both the South and Central area, but were 
not mentioned within any ward plans for the North. This suggests that the Housing 
provision within the North of the borough is considered to be less of a priority than it 
is within the South and Central.  
 
The types of issues were relatively diverse within the South of the borough. Multiple 
ward plans cited issues around private rented housing as an issue. There were also 
mentions of poor standards of housing and the need for a cladding project. Social 
factors were also cited including housing deprivation in one ward. 
 
Within the ward plans from the Central area, the issues were less diverse, with a 
particular focus on the development of new build properties and the need for starter 
homes. 
 
Community Assets  
 
There was also a section within the ward plans focussed on outlining the various 
assets within communities, including individuals/groups and buildings. There was a 
variable approach to this section within the ward plans, with two wards (Brinsworth 
and Catcliffe and Rother Vale) not explicitly naming any community assets, but 
rather focussing on the vision of working with communities to improve outcomes. 
Therefore, these lists are unlikely to reflect an accurate view of the assets within 
each community.  
 
Similar types of organisations and buildings came up across a large number of the 
ward plans. This included:  
 

 Schools 

 Religious Buildings and Denominations   

 Village Halls  

 Neighbourhood Centres  

 Parish Councils  

 Gyms and Leisure Centres  

 Youth and Community Centres  

 TARAs 

 ‘Friends of’ Groups  

 Hobbies/Clubs 

Page 60



 
 
 
 

34 
 
 
 
 
 

The following sections detail the number of community assets listed within each ward 
plan, broken down into the three areas.  
 
 
South  
 
The number of assets identified in the different ward plans within the South is 
outlined in the graph below (see Figure 6 below.) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Proportionate to the number of wards within the South, there were fewer 
individuals/groups and buildings identified within these ward plans than within ward 
plans from the North and Central area. However, this was impacted by Brinsworth 
and Catcliffe and Rother Vale not naming any specific community assets within the 
ward plans. Holderness was a significant outlier in the high number of assets listed, 
whilst Maltby and Dinnington identified much fewer. 
 
 
 
Central   
 
The number of assets identified in the different ward plans within the Central area is 
outlined in the graph below (see Figure 7 below.)  
 
 
 
 
 

0

5

10

15

20

25

Individuals/Groups

Buildings

Figure 6: Community assets identified within ward plans from the South   

Page 61



 
 
 
 

35 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Ward plans within the Central area included the highest number of known community 
assets. However, there were significant outliers in this. Whilst the ward plan for 
Keppel identified a large number of individuals/groups, it also identified very few 
buildings. Furthermore, Sitwell listed very few community assets within either 
category.   
 
 

North  
 
The number of assets identified in the different ward plans within the Central area is 
outlined in the graph below (see Figure 8 below.) 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

Individuals/Groups

Buildings

Figure 7: Community assets identified within ward plans from the Central   

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

Individuals/Groups

Buildings

Figure 8: Community assets identified within ward plans from the North   

Page 62



 
 
 
 

36 
 
 
 
 
 

Overall, the ward plans within the North identified the fewest numbers of 
individuals/groups and buildings out of all three areas. This is interesting considering 
that facilities emerged as a key theme within ward plans within the North. However, 
Hoober identified a large number of both individuals/groups and buildings.  
 
 
Conclusion  
 
There are certain trends that have emerged from the ward plans, which could inform 
the approach of the Thriving Neighbourhoods Programme. However, there are 
limitations to the information identified within the ward plans, and this report should 
therefore be understood in the context of the wider intelligence the Council has 
regarding neighbourhoods.  
 
 
Name of Accountable Officer(s): Jackie Mould, Head of Performance, Intelligence 
and Improvement  
 
Appendices to this report available upon request, these include: 
 

 Outline of Themes within Ward Plans  

 Outline of Community Assets Identified within Ward Plans 

Page 63



Thriving Neighbourhoods
The Rotherham Neighbourhood Strategy  
2018-2025

sley • Hoober • Rawmarsh • Silverwood • Swinton • Valley • Wath • Boston Castle • Keppel • Rotherham 
Rotherham East • Rotherham West • Sitwell • Wingfield • Anston and Woodsetts • Brinsworth and 
Catcliffe • Dinnington • Hellaby • Holderness • Maltby • Rother Vale • Wales • Wickersley • Hoober
sley • Hoober • Rawmarsh • Silverwood • Swinton • Valley • Wath • Boston Castle • Keppel • Rotherham 
East • Rotherham West • Sitwell • Wingfield • Anston and Woodsetts • Brinsworth and Catcliffe • ffe 
• Dinnington • Hellaby • Holderness • Maltby • Rother Vale • Wales • Wickersley • Hoober • Rawmarsh 
Silverwood • Swinton • Valley • Wath • Boston Castle • Rotherham West • Rotherham East • Keppel • pel 
• Sitwell • Dinnington • Hellaby • Wingfield • Brinsworth and Catcliffe • Anston and Woodsetts 
Holderness • Maltby • Rother Vale • Wales • Wickersley • Hoober • Rawmarsh • Silverwood • Swinton

Putting communities at the heart of everything we do

P
age 64



Putting communities at the heart of everything we do

Introduction
Our vision for Rotherham is for every neighbourhood to be a thriving neighbourhood, where people are able to work together 
to achieve a good quality of life. We want to work with local people to find solutions to local issues and to build on our local 
heritage and assets. 

This strategy sets out how the Council intends to support local action, using the skills and expertise of local councillors and 
dedicated neighbourhood officers in a more effective way. 

Our aim is to put communities at the heart of everything we do and to make people healthier, happier, safer and proud by:

•	 Working with communities on the things that matter to them

•	 Listening and working together to make a difference

•	 Supporting people from different backgrounds to get on well together

1

Putting communities at the heart of everything we do

Thriving Neighbourhoods – The Rotherham Neighbourhood Strategy 2018-2025 2

P
age 65



Putting communities at the heart of everything we do

Why we have developed this strategy
There are a number of reasons for developing this strategy and introducing a fresh approach to working with local 
neighbourhoods.

•	 Communities are best placed to understand local issues and find local solutions to local problems

•	 We want to move away from ‘doing to’ to ‘doing with’ to get better outcomes

•	 Continuing austerity and pressure on public services mean that we have to work in a different way

•	 Recent Rotherham history – the Council wants to reach out to neighbourhoods and work together to help them thrive

•	 There are a wealth of social and community assets that are underutilised

2

Putting communities at the heart of everything we do

Thriving Neighbourhoods – The Rotherham Neighbourhood Strategy 2018-2025 3

P
age 66



	

Putting communities at the heart of everything we do

What we want to achieve
A successful neighbourhood strategy would see:

Neighbourhoods that are safe and welcoming with good community spirit where…

•	 people get involved in their neighbourhood and help each other out

•	 local councillors provide leadership and support community action

•	 people from different backgrounds have the chance to interact 

•	 communities are strong and help people to feel safe 

•	 vulnerable people are protected

3

Putting communities at the heart of everything we do

Thriving Neighbourhoods – The Rotherham Neighbourhood Strategy 2018-2025 4

P
age 67



	

Putting communities at the heart of everything we do

What we want to achieve (continued)
Residents happy, healthy and loving where they live with…

•	 accessible and well-used green spaces

•	 clean streets and public places

•	 action taken to make people feel less lonely and isolated

•	 fun things to do for people of all ages 

•	 high quality homes

3

Putting communities at the heart of everything we do

Thriving Neighbourhoods – The Rotherham Neighbourhood Strategy 2018-2025 5

P
age 68



	

Putting communities at the heart of everything we do

What we want to achieve (continued)
Residents using their skills and assets to contribute to the outcomes that matter to them leading to…

•	 more people working together to find solutions to local problems

•	 a strong community and voluntary sector

•	 local assets being harnessed for the benefit of the community

3

Putting communities at the heart of everything we do

Thriving Neighbourhoods – The Rotherham Neighbourhood Strategy 2018-2025 6

P
age 69



	

Putting communities at the heart of everything we do

	

 

Case Study: Treeton Luncheon Club
Loneliness and isolation can have a devastating impact on people’s lives, often leaving them housebound and with confidence 
levels at an all-time low. People become isolated for all sorts of reasons, due to illness, for example, or growing older with 
less mobility. Thankfully a luncheon club in Treeton is helping residents to come together at the local community centre and 
socialise with neighbours over a hot meal.

Following an initial consultation to find out local residents’ needs, the Council, Rother Vale ward 
councillors and local volunteers worked together to set up the club with the help of funding from 
the ward budget. Months of hard work and preparation followed, with volunteers gaining a five star 
food hygiene rating for the kitchens. A free trial was organised to gauge the level of interest, which 
proved so popular that the sessions have now been running for almost two years. The lunch club is 
run entirely by volunteers, with the continuing support of ward councillors and council staff. 

Mandy Ardron, Neighbourhood Development Officer, says: “Social interaction is the key element 
of this project. People in the community needed somewhere to go where they can have a natter 
with neighbours and get a warm meal at the same time. For some people this is the only time 
they get out each month so it can be a real lifeline. As an added benefit I invite agencies and 
partners to attend, such as South Yorkshire Police and housing staff, as well as elected members. 
This gives residents the opportunity to discuss issues and problems within a safe environment.”

Putting communities at the heart of everything we do

Thriving Neighbourhoods – The Rotherham Neighbourhood Strategy 2018-2025 7

P
age 70



	

Putting communities at the heart of everything we do

	

Putting communities at the heart of everything we do

Mandy works with Community Link Worker, Julie Barnett, to promote the club. Working in partnership 
across the Council means that people who may need a little extra support get to attend. Julie says: 
“My role is to work with social workers and health care providers and find suitable activities for people 
with more complex needs to attend in their local community. This luncheon club is perfect for some 
people who are socially isolated. We have one person who accesses support from RDaSH (Rotherham 
Doncaster and South Humber NHS Foundation Trust) and started to come along to the sessions with a 

support worker. Now he’s got to the point where he feels able to come on his own and he even arrives early and helps to set up 
the room. All of this is about confidence building with the hope that he could even get back into employment.”

One lady who attends the luncheon club has struggled with depression for years. She 
talks about the impact that the session has had on her life, saying: “I really didn’t get 
out much before coming to this club. My mental illness meant that I was largely stuck 
in my flat. My support worker from RDaSH supported and persuaded me to attend and 
it was really difficult at first. It was such a big step but I’m so glad I made it. Now, my 
confidence levels are so much higher and it’s meant that I’ve built friendships in my 
community and regularly chat to my neighbours when I see them.” 

Thriving Neighbourhoods – The Rotherham Neighbourhood Strategy 2018-2025 8

P
age 71



	

Putting communities at the heart of everything we do

	

 

Case Study: Victoria Street allotments
Abandoned allotments in Dinnington have been given a new lease of life after they were identified as the perfect plot for a new 
community garden.

One local resident was keen to set up a new project “to help people with healthy eating, keep fit, get fresh air and get people 
out of their houses”. He contacted a Council Neighbourhood Officer who works closely with local 
community groups to chat about his idea and find out if he was aware of any land which might be 
suitable.

His enquiry came at a time when the Council was working to clean up the Victoria Street 
allotments, which had fallen in to disrepair and were a hotspot for fly tipping. 

In the following five years, the Better Dinnington group was formed and began work to secure the 
land for the community, leasing the allotment on a 10 year contract. The company director of 
the group said: “The allotments were complete pieces of wasteland; people were fly tipping and 
dumping sofas and fridges. 

“It’s taken a while to get things up and running, but we’ve made the site secure by working with 
the council who have funded fencing and gates and a container to safely store our tools.

Putting communities at the heart of everything we do

Thriving Neighbourhoods – The Rotherham Neighbourhood Strategy 2018-2025 9

P
age 72



	

Putting communities at the heart of everything we do

	

Putting communities at the heart of everything we do

“The project is not only working by helping people to grow fruit and 
vegetables, get fresh air and make new friends, but now we’ve made an 
effort, it’s stopped the fly tipping. The solar lighting around the site has also 
helped.”

The group also work with the town council, who have provided funding for raised beds, poly tunnels, compost bins and 
wheelbarrows, and ward councillors, who have helped put them in touch with 
useful contacts and the relevant departments within the council.

“There’s lots going on and we’re even looking into growing hops to 
make a Dinnington beer! Hopefully, we’ll be able to arrange an end of 
year barbeque using the vegetables from the garden and run a friendly 
competition with categories including longest carrot and nobbliest potato”.

Thriving Neighbourhoods – The Rotherham Neighbourhood Strategy 2018-2025 10

P
age 73



	

Putting communities at the heart of everything we do

	

 

Case Study: Wingfield Dragons Den
Young people in Kimberworth who attend the Chislett Community Centre got down to business to put a smile on the faces of 
elderly residents in the area.

A Dragon’s Den event was held at the Community Centre for residents to come along and pitch their ideas to make 
improvements to their neighbourhood. Members of the youth group happened to be at the centre that evening, saw an 
opportunity to make a difference, and decided to take it. Their request to make a very last minute submission to the panel was 
accepted.

Quickly working on their pitch, the group decided to focus on loneliness 
and wanted to acknowledge older residents who may be spending the 
festive season alone. The group simply asked for funds to buy small gifts for 
residents, which they would distribute themselves. 

Georgina Brown, who runs the youth group, said: “The group literally saw 
their opportunity and went for it. The pitch they developed in an extremely 
short period of time was just amazing. So amazing in fact that one of the 
panel members offered £50 there and then regardless of the outcome of the 
competition. This was about giving something back to other residents in the 
community and I think the idea really pulled people’s heartstrings.”

Putting communities at the heart of everything we do

Thriving Neighbourhoods – The Rotherham Neighbourhood Strategy 2018-2025 11

P
age 74



	

Putting communities at the heart of everything we do

	

Putting communities at the heart of everything we do

One young person from the group said: “We just wanted to try and 
put a smile on an elderly person’s face as it was close to Christmas 
and we understand that some elderly people can be feeling lonely 
and isolated at this time of year.”

The event brought the whole community together and helped to 
establish a network of like-minded 
groups. It meant 
that people, 

who are passionate about making their neighbourhood a nicer and safer 
place to live, could propose their ideas outside of the traditional application 
process, making it much more fun and interactive. In total, successful groups 
were awarded £1500.

Thriving Neighbourhoods – The Rotherham Neighbourhood Strategy 2018-2025 12

P
age 75



Putting communities at the heart of everything we do

How we will do it
In order to make this happen we must work in a different way, with Councillors as champions of their communities, harnessing 
resources and driving action.

Thriving Neighbourhoods is about the Council and residents working together to achieve better outcomes and improve quality 
of life. It will do this by bringing together those who care about the local neighbourhood to cooperate and make a positive 
difference. 

We will take an “asset-based” approach, drawing on existing strengths in the community. This means tapping into the 
knowledge and skills of individuals; understanding the value of relationships between families, friends and informal networks; 
and recognising the importance of local community and voluntary groups, as well as physical assets such as buildings,  
parks and other public spaces.

We want to work with every neighbourhood across the borough and recognise that they have different  
assets and different strengths. 

4

Putting communities at the heart of everything we do

Thriving Neighbourhoods – The Rotherham Neighbourhood Strategy 2018-2025 13

P
age 76



Putting communities at the heart of everything we do

How we will do it (continued)
Each neighbourhood – or electoral ward - will produce a plan that sets out its distinct characteristics, highlights key issues, and 
identifies priorities for action. These plans will guide activity towards achieving the neighbourhood strategy outcomes.

Neighbourhood working will not be constrained by formal structures which could delay action. Instead, local councillors will be 
supported by a dedicated team of neighbourhood coordinators, whose role will be to facilitate community involvement.  
A devolved budget will be available to fund local projects.

The aim is to engage a wide and diverse range of local people, to build the capacity of community groups and voluntary sector 
organisations, and to draw in support from council departments and other agencies.

4

Putting communities at the heart of everything we do

Thriving Neighbourhoods – The Rotherham Neighbourhood Strategy 2018-2025 14

P
age 77



Putting communities at the heart of everything we do

How we will do it (continued)
At the area level, partnerships will be established in the north, central and south parts of the borough, bringing together public, 
private and voluntary agencies to improve the coordination of activity and enable new ideas to develop. 

At the ward level members will work with a range of agencies including police and the NHS to address local problems and aim 
to expand the model to include other key partners such as schools, colleges and  local businesses.

The council is already working closely with partners to develop place based approaches which include:

•	 The establishment of safer neighbourhood teams including co-location of council staff and neighbourhood police officers 

•	 Regular meetings with the police at ward level to address community safety issues

•	 Working closely with NHS partners across neighbourhoods to influence the way that services  
	 are delivered locally

4

Thriving Neighbourhoods – The Rotherham Neighbourhood Strategy 2018-2025 15

P
age 78



Putting communities at the heart of everything we do

A new way of working
The Council has committed to becoming a modern and efficient organisation, but this should be seen as the minimum expectation. 
As a modern organisation, we must be constantly evolving and innovating, seeking new ideas and learning from others. This means 
thinking about the way that services are delivered and how people are involved in decisions about their lives. 

This strategy provides a framework for changing the way in which the Council and other public bodies engage with neighbourhoods. 
Some of this will involve locally-based teams, but more importantly it is about seeing communities and individuals as equal partners; 
recognising that meaningful, long-term change will only happen if we “act with” rather than “do to”.

We need to think less about delivering standardised services through large institutions, and more about integrating services with 
people’s lives – providing solutions that are personalised and flexible. To think less about doing things for residents and more about 
creating the capacity, interest and enthusiasm for individuals and communities to do things for themselves. 

Instead of defining places and people by their problems, we need to start with their strengths  
and aspirations. 

5

Putting communities at the heart of everything we do

Thriving Neighbourhoods – The Rotherham Neighbourhood Strategy 2018-2025 16

P
age 79



Putting communities at the heart of everything we do

A new way of working (continued)
To make this a reality, everyone – individuals and organisations - will need to play their part, working together with a shared 
sense of community spirit. 

The Council’s commitments are set out below, but the expectation of local people is to:

•	 Get involved in your community

•	 Care for your environment and recycle more

•	 Be a good neighbour and help to protect the most vulnerable

•	 Take care of your health and plan for the future

•	 Give us honest feedback and let us know what is and isn’t working

•	 Be proud of Rotherham

5

Putting communities at the heart of everything we do

Thriving Neighbourhoods – The Rotherham Neighbourhood Strategy 2018-2025 17

P
age 80



Putting communities at the heart of everything we do

A new way of working (continued)
In return, the Council will:

•	 Support communities via local councillors and a team of neighbourhood coordinators

•	 Provide dedicated funding for local projects

•	 Build services around individuals and families

•	 Listen and act on feedback

•	 Work with partners to plan for the future 

5

Putting communities at the heart of everything we do

Thriving Neighbourhoods – The Rotherham Neighbourhood Strategy 2018-2025 18

P
age 81



Putting communities at the heart of everything we do

How to get involved 
There is a lot happening already to cultivate thriving neighbourhoods, as the examples in this strategy show. 

To see your local plan and find out what’s going on in your area, click on the interactive map on our website: 
www.rotherham.gov.uk/yourneighbourhood 

6

Putting communities at the heart of everything we do

Supported by Rotherham Metropolitan Borough Council

LOVE WHERE
YOU LIVE

Love Where You Live is our campaign 
to encourage and help people to get 
involved in their community, with 
specific support for clean ups and 
litter picks:  
www.rotherham.gov.uk/litterpick 

Neighbourhoods RMBC @RotherhamWards

Rotherham Gismo acts as a one-stop-
shop for information on the local 
voluntary and community sector. 

Administered by Voluntary Action Rotherham, the website includes 
a directory of the hundreds of groups that are operating in the 
borough: www.rotherhamgismo.org.uk/gismo_directory/  

Thriving Neighbourhoods – The Rotherham Neighbourhood Strategy 2018-2025 19

P
age 82



Housing Strategy refresh 

2019-2022

Jane Davies, Head of Strategic Housing 

and Development

Sarah Watts, Strategic Housing Manager

1

P
age 83

A
genda Item

 10



Current Strategy: The 5 Themes

• Housing growth

• Social housing

• Private rented housing

• Affordable housing

• Specialist housing

2

P
age 84



Achievements

• Grant funding for new homes

• Shared Ownership and Affordable Housing 

• Clusters Partnership - Wates

• Town centre residential programme

• New council homes

• Home ownership

3

P
age 85



Achievements

• TPAS Accreditation 

• Excellence in tenant engagement award

• Pre-tenancy workshops

• Tenancy support

• Grange road remodelling

• Gas servicing 100%

4

P
age 86



Achievements 

• Step up step down units

• Remodelling of own stock

• £200K Estate Regeneration Fund 

• Selective Licensing

• Loft & Cavity wall insulation programme

5

P
age 87



The New Strategy

A chance to have your say

6

P
age 88



Things have changed…

• Housing and Planning Act 2016 

• Policy u-turns

• HRA Business Plan refresh

• Increasing resources

• Homelessness Reduction Act

• Social Housing Green paper

7

P
age 89



Pipeline Projects

• More new homes

• Housing profiles and land review

• Transformation of adult care

• Modern methods construction

• New repairs and maintenance contract

8

P
age 90



Value of new housing

• More than bricks and mortar

• Economic – local jobs and apprenticeships

• Energy efficiency 

• Health

• Social value – contractors

• Neighbourhoods 

• Community engagement

9

P
age 91



Vision

– Meeting housing need through growth

– People living in high quality homes, affordable and 

energy efficient homes

– Rotherham council being the best housing 

provider in the country

– Rotherham’s people can live independently in 

safe, healthy and vibrant communities

– A revitalised town centre with a new urban 

community

P
age 92



Structure

• 5 key priorities

– Providing new homes to meet Rotherham's 

housing need

– Investing in Rotherham housing stock

– Improving health and wellbeing through housing

– Strengthening Rotherham's economy

– Working in partnership to deliver this strategy

P
age 93



Timetable for refresh

12

July 2018 –

October 2018 

Consultation 

period November 

2018

First Draft

February 2019

Cabinet for 

approval
March 2019

Publish new 

strategy

January 2019

Final Draft

P
age 94


	Agenda
	7 Minutes of the previous meeting held on 26 July 2018
	8 Rother Valley Caravan Park
	Appendix 1 (20-9-18)

	9 Thriving Neighbourhoods
	Annual Report 2017-18_FINAL_14.09 v2
	81381 - Neighbourhood Strategy A4 18pp Full Proof 4 (4)

	10 Housing Strategy Refresh - 2019-2022

